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Part I – Old Maison Road (November 2005)
Chapter 1
Augustus Wainwright was enjoying one of his favorite sex dreams - it was a sweltering late-August day, he was thirteen, still bone skinny and not allowed to over-exert himself in the heat, and he caught the dark chocolate upstairs maid smoking in his mother's bathroom, her private sanctuary. He'd fancied that gal all summer, and now he had her, close enough to touch. His mouth stretched into a toothy, goofy grin, he ordered the maid to his room near the back of the mansion. He bent her over his desk, slid down her panties, undid his pants and just watched, breathing in the faint new aroma, entranced by his first real look at a woman's vagina. The best part came when the maid, realizing her position and resigning herself to it, reached back and took matters in hand. He shuddered in anticipation, and then an irritating noise, an itch he couldn't scratch, ice-picked its way from...where?
The skinny Augustus blinked, and the maid disappeared. He looked up, the window to the backyard opened on its own where he expected to see Mother bent over the azaleas in the garden. Instead, she was standing, wearing an old-fashioned plantation ball gown, passionately kissing a shirtless, barefoot black man. The noise scratched itself into a banjo being tuned, then strum. The sound vibrated through the teen and ended at his crotch. He looked down, realized he was fully erect, watching his mom and some black bastard making out. It jarred him awake.
He heard a murmur behind him on the bed, looked over to see Rebecca Sandiford, the girl from last night's party, curled up beside him fully dressed. Damn, he groaned. She didn't leave when the cops ran everybody off. Downstairs, he heard a banjo being played. He blinked his eyes, looking over at the clock on the nightstand. 3:02 AM. "He'll come at three in the morning, the day after your birthday." Auntie Aggie's words spilled from his lips, underscored by the sound...
He slowly got out of bed, his heart beating faster as he watched the girl sleeping. He heard the first verse of "Dixie" softly playing and then repeating, at once coming from the parlor downstairs, and as if from miles away, bringing a heaviness that settled around him and squeezed. He fought to calm himself, force his breathing a little closer to normal. He went to the window, looking up and down the street in front for the county sheriff's car. It was parked outside when he told Rebecca to leave with the rest of his friends, half an hour later he'd passed out after finishing off another bottle of Jack Daniels alone. She must've hid, and no deputy either, he worried as the song began again, a dreamy echo outside the room.
That goddamn cable show he'd been watching immediately sprang to mind. "The File Room." He hated the show, though he'd watched every week for the past year, growing more and more alarmed as they proved this supernatural crap was real. Each episode that had a ghost in it filled him with sick dread. This will make one hell of an episode, though, he thought.
Two months ago he was dragged from a beach bar in Rio and deposited in the family "East House" on the west side of Liberty Plaines in the kingdom of Wainwright County. They said it was his turn as the latest first-born son to go through this ordeal or be disowned. He was brought before his Auntie Aggie, Agnes Wainwright, the matriarch of the family. She spoke the names Jacob and Polly, told him about the curse that afflicted the Wainwrights and the LeChettes, another old prominent plantation family in the county.
Deeply embarrassed, she explained that Jacob was a runaway field buck who was caught by Justin Wainwright and Lucien LeChette in 1832. As they were bringing him back he put a curse on them and they killed him. Polly was a crazy old kitchen slave who died when Justin was a boy, and she mainly haunts Wainwright Park as a little girl when she ain't with Jacob. Augustus could tell there was a lot more to it than that, but Auntie wouldn't say, though her face tightened with the knowing of it.
Aggie showed him manila folders containing the original sheriff's reports for his late uncle Jeffrey Wainwright in '67 and Oscar LeChette in '83. The obituary pages folded inside listed their deaths as 'heart attack' and 'stroke' the morning after their twentyth birthdays.
Augustus never heard of Uncle Jeffrey. The family members never mentioned him, far as he could remember. He supposed the LeChettes never mentioned their first-born sons either, as if they didn't matter and would be forgotten soon enough. He realized he was never challenged or encouraged in school like his siblings; he was indulged and entertained, treated more like a child with a terminal illness, soon to be covered over and forgotten, like something shameful, like he was a part of the curse, just accept it and die and let them all move on.
He quietly contacted an attorney from the Biloxi phone directory and sent him a letter with instructions.
Augustus glanced over at Rebecca and grimaced as the music downstairs paused. In '83, Oscar LeChette had a young woman with him when the ghost twins visited. She didn't survive. The girl being here was bad...
He took a deep breath as "Dixie" started again, the sound crawling up and down his spine. He slipped on a night robe over his t-shirt and jeans and walked slowly to the door. He opened it as quietly as he could, watching for any movement from Rebecca, eased himself out and closed it with a muffled click. He crept down the hall and paused at the stairs, the music drifting up from the parlor below. He started down, close to the wall but staying clear of the paintings and portraits of the proud lineage of Wainwright men through the past two hundred years. On her last visit, Aggie pointed out a few of the Wainwright notables, along with the row of small portraits of the firstborn sons at age ten. Eight of them since the Northern Aggression and only two ever lived past the age of twenty. His picture wasn't there yet, but there was already a space for it. The grim chain was begun by Beau II, the unfortunate first son of Beauregard T Wainwright. Augustus passed his portrait as he reached the bottom of the stairs, facing the entrance to the parlor.
The banjo playing stopped abruptly. Upstairs, the sudden absence of sound stirred Rebecca awake. She reached out lazily for him, opened her eyes, finding the bed empty. She looked around the dark room, shadows draped over the Victorian and Colonial furniture. "Gus?" She felt a sudden chill, reached for the second night robe then slowly opened the door and ventured out.
Earlier, she'd hid in the upstairs closet as the deputy was breaking up the party, then went downstairs to the kitchen until Gus fell asleep. She had decided at the party that the ghost story was romantic, it made her like him even more, even though she'd never met him before tonight, but they both felt an immediate attraction when they met in the kitchen. On impulse she decided to stay and give him a wake up present, then go with him wherever he would jet off to, whether it was Rio or Prague or Timbuktu. Rebecca was taking a year off from college and exploring all of her wild impulses. And she discovered Augustus liked to travel and party. But, where was he?
In the middle of the parlor Augustus saw a young, powerfully built black man, the same one who invaded his dream, barefoot, shirtless, face sweltering from the sun. There was no sunlight in the room, but he could see it glinting off his back and arms as he swung a hoe in short, sure, downstrokes, with a phantom blade that chopped into the fine oak floor, but made no damage. Old Jacob...
Augustus winced as he felt his heart squeeze again. It passed after a few seconds. He grunted, then straightened up, breathing hard as Jacob stood upright, letting the hoe slip from his hands and fade away as it fell.
Augustus shivered as Jacob calmly studied him. The ghost looked no more than nineteen or twenty, his face calm and serene, though the eyes reflected all the ugliness and inhumanity captured those few years.
"You know who I am?" the ghost said.
Augustus tried not to show his fear. "Yes," he said just as calmly.
Jacob smiled. "Yo Uncle Jeffrey pissed hisself 'fore he could even speak." In a split second Jacob was standing a foot in front of him. Before he could react, Jacob placed his broad dark hand squarely on his chest.
"Time to see, Wainwright. See if you get a taste, or take a ride."
Rebecca walked slowly from the bedroom to the top of the stairs, wondering if she really heard a banjo playing. She finished tying up her robe and, as silently as she could, made her way downstairs, stopping at the landing. She saw Gus standing in the doorway of the parlor, shaking. There's somebody else in there, but she couldn't see. She inched around Gus, craning her neck to see into the dark room. Rebecca and Jacob saw each other in the same instant.
Jacob froze her in place with a forceful wave of his hand. He clawed the air in front of him the way you'd catch a fly, and she was instantly standing before him, immobile and trembling. Jacob turned to Augustus, his face registering disappointment. They know better than to have anybody else there, but they still do it. He looked around at the remains of the party decorating the parlor. Wainwright first born don't deserve birthday parties either, even one so sickly.
He continued reading the two, saw that they weren't nowhere near as bad as some Wainwrights, so they would get off easy. He only had mild charms on him this time, as concession to the tearful pleas of Agnes Wainwright. Jacob pulled Gus closer till they were nose to nose. "You takin' a ride alright, but you might just make it, but only on account of your weak heart and her."
His body glistened as he built himself up, his hands clutching the front lapels of the helpless pair's robes. Two specks of sunlight appeared before them, bright glowing embers. They began to shine and Augustus stared into its bottomless light, his eyes beginning to shine. A flash as his speck exploded and he suddenly gasped and began struggling against unseen bonds. Jacob released his grip on Augustus, watched him slowly fall backward, land gently on the floor.
Jacob watched Rebecca's eyes as they glowed in reflection of her speck of light. After the flash he was completely caught off guard when he saw which ride she began. Not Emma Jane, an older woman caught alone working in a slave patch at dusk, forced to service two local town boys taking a shortcut to Maison Road. This was Annie's ride, one of the worst ones he had, but he wasn't carrying... He felt his pants pocket for the pouch, and the two bones within, and he felt it resting on top of the pouch. Annie's bone.
He groaned. "Dammit, Polly..."
Jacob pulled the girl close, shaking with anger and regret. This girl didn't deserve Annie's ride. Holding her head still, he whispered in her ear "I'm sorry. I hope..." He released her, watched her settle gently to the floor beside Augustus Wainwright, who twitched like a fish on a hook.
Jacob closed his eyes, began to search the surrounding countryside for his companion, sweeping his gaze through the small town, past the square, and out beyond the town to the farms and the old Maison Road that once connected three great plantation houses, to the park where the third and most beautiful mansion used to stand. There, on the swings beside a gazebo, a young teenage girl wearing just a tuxedo shirt was in the middle swing, long dark legs kicking out as she swung forward. "What are you up to now?"
Just then a car sped past, skidded to a stop on the road past the gazebo then roared away. Polly smiled, jumped off the swing and started walking toward the road. When the car appeared back on the road approaching the park, Jacob waited, wondering who Polly was playing with.
****
Augustus spun, lost his balance, but didn't fall. He looked up, dazed, and saw his hands, feeling funny, smaller than before, bound to ropes. His arms were spread apart and tied to the large overhead branch of an old tree. The high sun dappled through the leaves. His eyes finally focused. His name was Samuel. And his skin was black as shit.
"...Tole you what I'd do if I caught you scratching on the ground again, Samuel. Young miss ain't here now, nigger!"
Augustus felt the spittle of tobacco juice splatter against Samuel's bare back. The heaviness in his chest returning, he tried desperately to yell out, beg, scream, but the mouth had a mind of its own, refusing to open. He felt Samuel straining against his bonds until an ear-splitting crack exploded just behind his head.
"Hold still, nigger..."
Samuel froze. Augustus was reduced to shallow gulps. The frayed end of the whip exploded between his shoulder blades, two, three times. He writhed between the ropes as the overseer put just the tip of the whip next to the skin...
"...Now you see why I run the yard for Master Beauregard, boy! He say 'don't make no long ugly scars, make little pretty scars, like spring blossoms...'" Crack! Four and five split the air at Augustus' right ear. His head snapped away. Six snapped just above the base of his spine and his legs went numb. Augustus was in agony, struggling as a wave of pins and needles cascaded down his legs, then the maddening mix of intense pain and complete numbness swept in fading waves over his body. His mouth finally opened, and Augustus screamed out, but it didn't sound like him, but like a young boy. It was getting harder to breathe the dry, hot air. He slumped to one side, looking like a marionette dangling from its strings, the heavy weight on his chest allowing him small, gulping breaths.
Seven. Eight.
The overseer enjoyed this part of the job; it was why he was hired. Master Beauregard detested the long, ugly scars many slaves carried on their backs. He considered it a failure in livestock management. Still, slaves had to be corrected and trained. "Make the scars smaller," he insisted, firing three overseers until he found one with a deft touch and deadly accuracy.
Nine.
Ten snapped sharply at the base of the boy's skull. Augustus gasped in shock, inhaled too quickly and swallowed his tongue. He flailed, desperately, his blocked throat silent. He passed out at lash number thirteen. He was dead by the time the overseer untied Samuel from the tree...
****
Rebecca came to running, stumbling to a noisy stop inside a line of trees, from the glow of the full moon into pitch darkness. She leaned unsteadily against a tree, her head spinning from being at Gus' mansion, then flashing eyes and sudden terror, and the sudden knowledge slammed into her head that she was also a Wainwright house girl named Annie, with a white man's blood on her hands, with her own blood staining her thighs. She looked back through the trees to LeChette House, grand in its own way, but not as majestic as her Massa's House. Screams inside and four men tearing out the back door almost made her scream as she froze behind a tree. When they went back inside she turned and ran quickly and silently through the woods.
South. Wainwright house is two miles south at the other end of Maison Road, Annie whispered inside her head. The three remaining cousins of Lucien LeChette, the Stonehill brothers, would be on her soon enough if she didn't keep moving. And they knew where she'd be running to.
Rebecca had no control of the body as Annie worked her way well off the roads south to Wainwright House, but she saw, and felt the young house girl's terror of being caught again by those boys. She'd already been violated by Master Franklin Stonehill, him still roughly pounding into her on the floor of the upstairs bedroom by the time she got one of Mistress LeChettes' knitting needles into his neck. She pulled herself off of his rigid, trembling penis as she stabbed him a second time in the neck, shoving him onto his back on the floor, pushing down her dress and watched him, wiping the blood from her hand on his undone pants. He shuddered and came, arms flailing, grasping at the large needle, sputtering loudly as death throes increased the intensity of his last orgasm. The boys downstairs in the billiard room laughed at Franklin's garbled outcry. He stopped gurgling and struggling finally, and bending over him, she took out the knitting needle. Blood sprayed from his neck, splashing across the front of her dress, sprinkling her face and neck.
She sprang off him in a panic, scrambling to her feet. Heart pounding, she took the dress off, wiped the blood from her face, then tossed it on Franklin's exposed crotch. She found a plain yellow dress in mistress' wardrobe and put it on, panic clawing at her fingers as she struggled with the buttons. The other Stonehill brothers could come up any moment to join Franklin in "gittin' some high yella nigger juice...."
Annie spent a long minute biting down on her terror, remembering the advice of Old Ruth: "If you ever wind up havin' to kill some damn white boy cause he won't leave you alone, only two things you can do. Run, and don't stop. If you can't run, child, use this..." And Old Ruth reached into her bosom and took out a small leather pouch, inside was a single-shot pistol and five bullets. "If it comes down to it, save the last one for yourself, child..." The pistol, hers now that Old Ruth passed over last year, was back at the cabin, hidden underneath.
She moved steadily, walking fast through the woods, running full out across the moonlit open fields at crossroads, till finally she reached the cabins back of the Wainwright smokehouse. No time for goodbyes or nothing, she thought, as she crept to the rear of Old Ruth's cabin and felt around for the hidey hole. Make my way to New Orleans and disappear. In the city she could pass...Rebecca felt the anger that flared up in the girl at the thought of "being able to pass," the monumental insult that being 'high yellow' was what drew the attention of the damned cousins in the first place. Two days before, they were visiting young master Julius at LeChette House, stopping their game of billiards when she walked pass the doorway carrying a parcel for Mistress upstairs. They marveled at how similar she was to Alexander Wainwright's dear sister Athena, who was a lovely girl, but spent far too much time with her mother and her bible to be available, but this young lass was very available and couldn't say no...
Annie found the pouch in a hole covered by a rock. Clutching it in her shaking hands, she crept around the cabins, scanning the yard between the cabins, the smokehouse and the main house. Her satchel, with all her worldly possessions, was in the upstairs sewing room. She dashed for the back door, praying the Stonehill boys weren't already at the front door...
Chapter 2
A brown sedan drove through broad Mississippi fields and scattered farmhouses barely visible in the dark, the horizon of faint lights sliding past. The car pulled over, inside light flicked on. The woman at the wheel - mid-to-late twenties, almost six feet tall with a toned athletic body and loose strawberry blonde curls down to her shoulders - checked out a printed Google map of the area. The marked trail showed a left turn at the next intersection, Old Maison Road.
Now heading north, the car's headlights flashed across a sign that read "Wainwright Park, two miles." She sped down the deserted road, letting her high-beams play across the trees and manicured lawns of a small public park. A small building that looked like a one-room schoolhouse on the left. On the right, a gazebo set off from the road, and beside it a child's swing set partly illuminated by a solitary streetlight at the corner. And a little black girl in the swing...
It took her a second after blowing through the intersection to realize...there was a child in the swing in the middle of the night. Wearing just a shirt...
She drove on, rolling through flatlands and more wide fields, coming upon the trees and manicured lawns of a small park, with the same little schoolhouse on the left, and a gazebo and swings on the right. And a little black girl in just a shirt, now waving at the approaching car, jumping off the swing and running toward the road. The woman felt everything slow down as the girl was caught in the wide beam of the headlights. The girl looked older, maybe fifteen, standing over five feet tall, most of it legs as she ran toward the car. Then she was past.
The sedan screeched to a halt at the intersection. Part of her balked at stopping, but she slowly backed up until she was between the schoolhouse and the swings. She looked around for the girl, seeing no one. The woman suddenly felt alone and small, the night pressing in on her. She jammed on the gas pedal and loudly skittered away from the park.
She replayed the image of the girl's young, forbidden fruit caught in the headlights, not noticing that up ahead she was approaching the schoolhouse, the gazebo, and the girl, now standing beside the road near the gazebo.
The woman slowed the car to a dead stop, ten feet away from the teen. She walked toward the car, waving, with an angelic smile. The woman was entranced by her honey-brown legs, the deep chocolate-colored areola topping her blossoming breasts, clearly visible through the shirt in the car's headlights. The beautiful smile, the virginal eyes.
She no longer thought of running, only of the girl's open and available body. Her hands were sweating on the steering wheel as she breathed uneasily, slowly, unsure what would happen next, fear and desire coursing through her as the girl walked across to the car's driver side, stopping at the window, her belly and breasts pressing against the glass. The woman caught her breath, gaze locked onto the hard thumb-sized nipples inches away. She heard a gentle giggle behind her, turned to see the girl sitting in the passenger seat. The shirt, an old fashioned faded white tuxedo shirt, was now unbuttoned all the way down to her lap. The woman could see the swell of the girl's breasts under the shirt, the nipples hard. Her eyes trailed back up to her full lips and innocent eyes.
"Hi. I'm Polly. You're pretty." She slid across the seat, the shirt sliding away from her glowing skin, crumpling the paper under her. The woman glanced down, heart racing as she watched the dark thighs, intoxicated by the scent of an aroused female, head spinning from the aroma, her own nipples, painfully stiff, sending delicious shocks through her body. Polly finished taking off her shirt and climbed onto the woman's lap, bringing her handful-sized breasts up to her lips as her eyes pleaded with the woman to take her. Trembling with desire and trepidation, the woman brushed her lips against the girl's nipple, lost as Polly sighed.
The woman's hands roamed over Polly's breasts, her back, lightly squeezing her ass, reaching around to the front, brushing her fingers against the girl's soft, kinky mons. She lightly sucked and nibbled on the turgid nipples as Polly unbuttoned the woman's blouse and pushed up her bra. As Polly touched and caressed the smaller breasts, she read the shadows on the woman's heart; the lust, the fear, the hate, and Marcus Hudson...
The woman suddenly felt her arms become heavy, then she couldn't move, and her arousal only increased. Polly leaned back, plucking her nipple from the woman's mouth, The woman began to tremble, on the edge of a small orgasm, eyes wide in terror as the girl's face grew hard and cold.
"You really did Marcus wrong, Miss Amanda. I've known white woman like you before, like Mistress Olivia. She liked hurting people too."
The girl vanished from her perch on Amanda's lap, appeared in front of the car, dressed again in the fully buttoned shirt. She looked up, as if scanning the black sky.
"Jacob?" she shouted, in a voice that cut through Amanda and triggered the orgasm, mixing the brief waves of pleasure with a piercing dread.
****
A few hours earlier, Amanda Harris was supremely pleased with herself, twirling a finger in a strawberry curl as she took the hotel shuttle to Bush Intercontinental Houston Airport, fifteen minutes away, on her way to a live meeting in Mobile, instead of the teleconference her "associate" Marcus Hudson had planned. She chuckled, thinking of her "executive-level solution" put into action that very night, that put a collar on "Sir Marcus," the "Affirmative Action" MBA junior executive bucking for her spot on the board after only a year with the firm. Before him, she was the rising star at the regional headquarters; that board position was hers.
They didn't get along at all at first, but it only took a few months to get past his natural distrust and suspicion, to change his view of her from hostile competitor to friend. She started with weekly "peace lunches" to share harmless office gossip. He soon relaxed around her, demonstrating his profound weakness by becoming far too trusting. Amanda took that time and used it well. She had enough time to sneak a keylogger onto his unguarded laptop to learn his passwords. She had enough time to gather together the different drugs she'd need to mix up a batch of her "Zeta House party potion," which made innocent freshmen and coeds very horny, very high, and very cooperative. She laughed out loud driving through the early morning countryside, remembering the bible study group Zeta House turned into their personal harem. The two couples went from nervous and shy to welcoming nymphos, taking on all comers. She remembered the strapon she shoved so far up that one boy's ass he shoulda screamed, but he just wiggled and grunted as he fucked back onto the hard rubber phallus. It sounded so much like a big dog barking, she thought. A barely contained smirk stole across her face, reflected in the window of the shuttle.
When she got herself invited to one of his "presentation tours" of teleconferences and personal meetings with current and potential clients, she was ready. A week before the tour, from El Paso to Atlanta, Amanda invited him to a bar near her apartment, where she got "tipsy," requiring him to take her home. Once inside, she turned on him, pushing him back against the door and kissing him as she fumbled with his belt buckle. That's right nigger, you know you want it, she thought. His pants dropped, as did she, to her knees, fishing his impressive erection from his boxers. She stroked him and waited, looking up with the babydoll face she used so well at frat parties in college. He had to make the next move. When his hands guided her lips to the bulbous, shiny head, she knew, she had him. She almost felt remorse for Hudson the first time she rode with abandon on his thick non frat-party sized dick, but she shoved that weakness aside; feeling sorry for his black ass would put his black ass in that board seat instead of hers.
On day three of the tour, Amanda and Marcus arrived at their hotel near the airport around 6 P.M. He had a round of one-on-one teleconferences planned, starting with the client in Mobile tomorrow afternoon, and he wanted to go over it again.
Amanda just smiled and patted his arm. "Relax, everything's ready."
She lagged behind at the front desk after Marcus took his keycard and walked to the elevator. She asked the concierge for any messages for "Annie." He checked the cork board behind the desk, out of Amanda's view, seeing, yes, a post-it with "For Annie" written on it. He checked out her athletic body with pert handful-sized breasts and a shapely ass. He handed her the note with a knowing smile she didn't notice as she snatched it, hurrying to catch up with Marcus. She shoved it into her skirt pocket as she turned the corner into the elevator banks and almost collided into him as he stood waiting. Riding up to the fourth floor, she agreed to come by his room in a few minutes, noticing the familiar hungry look in his eyes. Once in her room, down the hall from his, Amanda pulled out the paper - "Betsy, Rm. 732" was written in the center.
"Betsy" was the woman she'd found, and auditioned, after a month of searching in LA. Smiling, Amanda called her, gave her Marcus' room number and told her to be ready in an hour. She called room service, then went to his room and said she'd ordered burgers, fries, and milkshakes, was that ok?
A few minutes into the meal she told him she had a surprise - "some really excellent pot from a friend of mine. I thought we could eat first and then get high. But, I left it on the dresser in my room,' she said, giving him a wicked grin as she took off her blouse and slipped out of her shoes. He grinned, took her key card and hurried out. He was back in a minute, but she only needed thirty seconds to get out the little bottle from her skirt pocket, pop the lid and pour the red, sweet potion into his chocolate shake, stirring the straw to mix it. He returned just as she dropped her skirt, revealing a lacy black thong as she sat back in the chair beside her tray. He brought her a small zippered pouch as he admired her perky breasts in the French-cut bra.
Half an hour later, after finishing off a couple bowls of her potent weed, he started getting a slightly goofy look on his face from the potion as his penis began to stir on its own. He didn't notice.
"Isn't it hot in here, Marcus?" She remarked, and smiled as he slowly attacked the buttons on his shirt. She moved the serving trays to the cart and pushed him back onto the bed, removing the rest of his clothes and stroking his erection. Five minutes later, Marcus had a tremendous orgasm, lost to the wonderful sensations he felt, his nerve endings all screaming pleasure as he spurted in a lazy arc that pooled on his chest. His dick was still erect and would be for another hour or so, Amanda thought as she lightly bit the drooling head and intently watched his quivering response. It's time.
She rolled off the bed and dialed Betsy. "It's me. Come down now," she hissed into the hotel phone. She grabbed a towel from the bathroom and gently wiped him off, savoring the moment. Enjoy your balls tonight, she thought, I'll have them tomorrow, along with control of your precious seat on the board.
She turned to his laptop on the dresser, powered it up, then opened a browser and went to her travel site. A soft knock at the door and she grinned at Marcus, rolling around on the bed in slow motion. Showtime, big boy... At the door she took the "Do Not Disturb" sign off the inside handle, quickly opened up and ushered in Betsy, tall, gorgeous, with flowing shoulder-length red hair to match her full red lips, wearing a slinky dark red evening dress, elegant sandals and pearls. She took in Amanda's pert breasts and smiled as the lingerie-clad woman hooked the sign on the outside and closed the door. They just stood there and drank each other in, then embraced and kissed, long and slow.
"Hi. Annie," she said in a sweet lilt.
"Hello yourself," said Amanda. "We don't have much time. Your host is this way, and he can't wait to meet you." Amanda led the way as Betsy admired her cute ass in the thong.
They entered the dark bedroom to find Marcus propped up on his elbows, eyes closed, his erection still strong. Amanda walked over to him and kissed him. His eyes slowly opened and he tried to reach for her, but she backed away. He noticed another woman standing beside Amanda, a tall redhead with big lips peeling down a red dress to her slender waist. She had beautiful grapefruit-sized breasts with little pink nipples sticking through the open slits of a see-through bra. Betsy kneeled beside him on the bed and guided a nipple between his lips as Marcus' hands slowly, clumsily caressed Betsy.
Amanda returned to the computer and confirmed her red-eye flight to Mobile on a small airline using her own money. Nobody in the LA office needs to know about this trip yet, and Marcus will say what I damn well tell him to after tonight, Amanda snorted. She watched him, still sitting up, following Betsy's whispered instructions as she held him close. Marcus, in a daze, squeezed her breasts together until the nipples were inches apart, alternating from one stiff nipple to the other.
"That's right, like that," Betsy purred, sliding a hand down to his erection and lightly stroking him.
Amanda left the computer and crawled onto the bed at his legs, kissed up his thighs, brushed her lips against Betsy's caressing fingers, then captured his cock with her mouth. Marcus had barely come down from the melting waves of bliss he was riding. He was one big pleasure center, and he loved it. Nipples in his mouth and fingers stroking his dick was the center of his world. He'd come already and was still hard as a rock, and now sudden wet warmth enveloped him...
Amanda kissed and swallowed the shiny head, rotating around it lovingly, then went down further, meeting Betsy's fingers coming up, admiring his cock the way she admired all her new toys. She glanced over at Betsy's dress as she relinquished his dick, eyes lingering over the barely noticeable bulge at the junction of her thighs. "Ok, ready?" she asked.
Betsy nodded and they stretched him out on the bed. The redhead quickly finished undressing and got on the bed, straddling his face. Amanda smiled, admiring Betsy's neat arrangement of a slightly smaller-sized furry vagina tucked behind a small scrotum and a rigid four-inch dick.
Amanda returned to the stiff black cock, licking the head as she watched Betsy. The redhead brought her pussy close to his face; he started licking as soon as he felt her intoxicating wet folds brush his lips. He couldn't see a thing, but he didn't care. About anything. This was the best night of his life!
Amanda left the bed and went to her skirt in the chair, took the digital camera out of the other pocket. She turned on the lamp in the furthest corner of the room, giving just enough light to avoid using the flash. She checked the camera and went to the foot of the bed and took in the view.
Betsy was guiding Marcus, slowly sliding his tongue further and further out of the wet furrow and onto her meat, getting it wet. Amanda climbed aboard and resumed humming on his dick. As soon as he moaned loudly and started shaking, Betsy slid her pelvis back and with her hand, stuck just the tip of her penis into his mouth. His lips clamped on the small head as Amanda rapidly bobbed her head on his stiff pole to keep his senses reeling. She backed off as he started trembling. Not yet, big boy.
Betsy alternated Marcus from her dick to her pussy, sliding her cunt lips, then her cock, over his busy tongue. Amanda got up and steadied the camera as Betsy moved down and straddled Marcus, facing him. She eased herself down on his rigid cock, stroking her own erection and moaning in time with him. Amanda had a dozen shots by the time Betsy climbed off his pulsing dick and slid down until her tongue found his puckered anus and painted his balls and asshole. She straightened up, reached for the pillows on the bed and shoved them under him.
Betsy wet two fingers and began slowly easing them into him as Amanda leaned down and licked his dickhead to distract him. It took a few minutes, but when he started fucking back onto Betsy's fingers, she smoothly slid them out and positioned her stiff cock at his asshole. Betsy slowly inched into him, rocked back and forth, gasping as Marcus' clenching ass gripped her throbbing dick. When she bottomed out, Amanda moved back off the bed to get shots as Betsy stroked her full length into Marcus, grasping his wet pole of flesh and stroking it in time to her thrusts.
After five minutes of Betsy, Marcus cried out as he came again, three spurts that puddled on his belly. Betsy kept stroking him as she pounded his ass with her rigid cock. He remained hard.
Betsy felt herself about to come, so she pulled out of Marcus's ass and plunged her steaming pussy back down on his cock, grinding on his meat until she stiffened and squealed, gushed around his pole, spurted twice on Hudson's chest. And Amanda had it all on film.
She cleaned Marcus off with the towel then climbed back on the bed, lowering her humid pussy down to his waiting mouth. The two of them rode Marcus for another lazy half hour, Betsy slowly grinding his penis in her tight snatch as Amanda trailed kisses from Betsy's lips to both hard, plump little nipples, down her quivering belly to her short, throbbing dick. They got dressed while Amanda downloaded the photos into Marcus' laptop (my laptop now, she thought). Marcus lay in the bed, sighing, eyes barely open as his dick slowly began to deflate. Amanda flipped through the shots, marking the best ten, showing Marcus' face, but not Betsy's. Perfect.
At the door, they embraced and kissed, tenderly. Amanda promised Betsy that "Annie" would see her in LA in a week. Amanda watched Betsy gracefully stroll down the hall to the elevator, a smile of accomplishment on her face.
Back in the room, Amanda giggled as she went to the computer to finish her work. She printed out the ten pictures, retrieved a memory stick from her skirt pocket. From it she printed the letter she'd already written to Marcus - telling him in specific terms what she thought of him, why teleconferencing Mobile instead of making a personal visit was a stupid decision, not one a board member would ever make, what would happen with the pictures if he didn't do exactly as ordered (stay in the room for the next three days and hold your dick, cancel your meetings, no phone calls other than room service, and no contact with LA, or else), and what she expected of him when she got back. She took an empty manila envelope from his bags and put the papers inside, wrote "Open Immediately" on the front and left it on his chest.
He was asleep, and would be for another twelve hours, too late to interfere in her plans, but let's make sure. She went into his pants and took out his wallet. He had four credit cards and $2500 in cash. She took out $2000 and the cards, and returned the wallet to his pants. That'll hold him for a couple days, she thought. She turned off the laptop and took it, the sleek portable printer and his cell phone back to her room. She left the "Do Not Disturb" sign on the outside.
Amanda changed back into her traveling clothes and finished packing her flight bag. It was a little after 9 P.M., plenty of time to catch the red-eye to Mobile for the afternoon meeting. With everything on Marcus' computer, she could hold her own teleconference with the other clients from any place with a connection. She stood at the door with her flight bag and the laptop cases, feeling the rush of adrenalin wash over. We're crossing the Rubicon, she thought. No turning back. She took a deep breath and steeled herself, focusing on the image burned into her skull last year during a morning board meeting. All the members were assembled and waiting to introduce Marcus. She'd been in the ladies' room and got back too late. The board president had already begun talking and Marcus Hudson was already positioned, standing a few feet back from the slightly ajar double doors. The boardroom erupted in applause as the doors parted to admit him like a conquering hero.
At the front desk, Amanda explained that she had to leave unexpectedly and would be gone for a few days, but that her associate would be staying. She strolled out to the group of waiting airport shuttles, triumphant.
After her flight left for Mobile things started to go bad for Amanda. Her plane developed engine trouble and had to land in Baton Rogue. There were no other flights out to Mobile till morning. In a foul mood, she trudged to the car rental area, but only found one agency still open, a light-skinned girl was sipping coffee at the counter. She was such a bitch to the girl she got an older model car without the plug-in GPS alert system.
"That's the only car we have available at this hour with our garage closed, ma'am,' she smirked politely. The girl handed Amanda a road map of the southern states from a rack on the counter. "Just stay east on Highway 12 till it turns back into the Ten and you'll be in Mobile by morning," she said, but Amanda barely listened as she took the map and lugged her things out to pick up her rental. It was a brown four-door with a nasty trunk, so the flight bag went into the back seat. Amanda put the laptops in the front.
She drove out of the rental lot and made her way to Highway 110, driving south to 10 East, making sure she was on the right onramp to Highway 12, avoiding the depressing spectacle on the other side of Lake Pontchartrain. The radio was tuned to a news station so she turned it up as she hit the gas, speeding up on the deserted stretch of highway. "Its one forty-eight and time for weather and traffic..." Hmm, it's a little over 200 miles to Mobile...I'll be there before sunrise, she thought, easing back on the gas to the speed limit. Amanda began to feel her control returning, once again driving instead of flying to meet clients like a board member.
Her mind drifted as she fell into automatic driving mode, no longer hearing the radio. She loved to fly. She loved taking red-eye flights on one of the company's fleet of Lear jets, greeting the dawn in a new city, a new day to conquer. And Marcus fucking Hudson wasn't even a board member and he's already been on more flights than any of the other junior associates. She remembered thinking he must be blowing one of the senior members to get so many free trips. But what if he does for real? What if he is "on the downlow" and she could get proof? Amanda smiled. "Now I do!" she shouted, bursting out in a fit of giggles, supremely pleased with herself and her "executive level solution."
"...Toxic-chemical spill on Highway 10, near the Pearl River Bridge on the Louisiana state line. It's already causing backups on both sides, and they don't expect this to be cleared up in time for the morning rush..." Damn!
She pulled over to the emergency lane and checked the map again. Highway 59 was a few miles ahead. It went up sharply northeast, deep into Mississippi. The map didn't show any of the state roads, so she pulled out her laptop, praying that a working cell phone tower was nearby. She was able to get online and pull up Google Earth, and zoomed in on the web of local state and county roads. She found an east-bound county road turn-off from 59 near Picayune. She saved the map, bookmarked her place and turned off the laptop. She drove off with new determination; the executive solution is flexible, I'll make it work!
Once she reached the county road turn-off, Amanda stopped and opened the laptop back up to the Google map, listening to the news for any more on the accident to the south, trying not to listen to the sudden small voice of worry as she looked around at her surroundings. Highway 59 shot straight ahead, NNE, the highway lights suddenly smaller cutting through the dark countryside. Up ahead, she saw the shallow off ramp that curved to the right and ended at an L-shaped intersection. The branch she had to take shot east, away from the ribbon of lights and safety, into the backwoods gloom. She thought back to the girl at the rental counter, sticking her with this brown heap with no emergency call unit in the car. "Little piss-colored bitch," she muttered. "I'll show her and Marcus!" She snapped off any further nagging fears and got back to her task, saving a picture of the area and pulling the small travel printer out of Marcus' laptop case. Ten minutes later, she was rolling east with the high-beams on, the computer gear stowed and three printed pages showing a marked path all the way to Mobile lying beside her on the seat.
Leaving the cab light on, she checked the top page. The next twenty miles of the road's route crossed sparse intersections and stretches of farmland with scattered towns along the route. She drove on, making excellent time on this also deserted road. Why didn't anyone else do what I'm doing, she wondered. She'd only lost half an hour, she sighed, relaxing as she drove on through the enveloping darkness.
The news update at 3 A.M. didn't improve for the highway jam. Traffic was still backed up, but the worst of it was miles behind her. There was still no one else on this county road - all mine, she thought, turning off the radio and the cab light, getting into the drive now, nothing between her and Mobile...
The county road intersected State Highway Forty-Nine up ahead. Amanda saw a truck stop to the left and a motel on her right as she drove through. Once she crossed the highway, it was like the air had a different feel and scent. Heady, familiar, but she couldn't quite place it. Then she turned left, through Wainwright Park.
Chapter 3
In the Wainwright "East House" on the western edge of Liberty Plaines, Jacob stood before the contorted body of Augustus Wainwright, disgusted with the young master's failure to endure even the suffering of a young boy. Pitiful. That was the easiest ride I could give you, he thought, glancing over to the girl Rebecca, who was still in the early part of Annie's memory.
He closed his eyes and returned to the park. He closed in on the brown sedan, saw the out of state plates and a young woman behind the wheel, staring hard at Polly. Despite himself, he grinned at the teenaged ghost, pressing against the car window as she slipped inside. It won't take long now to get a read, he thought.
His gaze approached the car and slid into the back as Polly was shrugging out of her shirt and climbing into the woman's lap. The woman's lust was coming off her in waves, a familiar tang both he and Polly recognized. As she caressed the girl's body and feasted on her breasts, the woman...Amanda, was being read by Polly. The darkness in her heart, right on top, hot and thick, what she did with great pride and anger a few years ago, and again to an innocent young black man just a few hours ago. The tang of Mistress Olivia LeChette, who liked girls and boys, liked them young, and often loved them to death. The young ghost shivered at the memory; Amanda mistook the movement and clutched her tighter, moaning around the girl's hard nipple between her lips. Jacob saw Polly's face grow hard, knew that particular look would bear down on the woman, make her arms and legs heavy and clamp her mouth shut. Wrapping her up for me, he thought. She should, the way she messed up my judging...
His gaze left the car, hovered above as Polly appeared back outside, standing in front of the car, dressed again in the shirt. Polly called his name as he returned to the parlor where the girl twitched on the floor beside the latest weak-assed prospect from the Wainwright clan. Young miss, you just got lucky, he thought.
Jacob left the parlor, stepping through a dark corner in the hallway and emerging from the shadow of an old, gnarled tree. It was one of three ancient red maple trees in a small stand of river birch next to a creek that meandered through an unkempt field. He walked around to the opposite side of the tree, stopping at a large knothole on the trunk above his head, visible in the moonlight. He reached up and inside it, removed a large leather bag and from it took out a piece of wood with blood stains on it. He put the bag back inside the tree trunk and removed the smaller pouch and Annie's bone from his pants pocket. Jacob added the wood to the other charms inside, a folded scrap of paper covered in random numbers and letters, for Samuel, and Emma Jane's little bone with a piece of faded blue cloth tied to it. Annie's bone, with its faded scrap of stained yellow cloth tied around it, Polly snuck into his pocket. All the charms in the pouch and back in his pocket, the ghost went back around to the night shadows cast by the old Red Maples, entered them and appeared on the road beside Polly.
Amanda, paralyzed, breathing rapid and shallow, began a muffled wailing at seeing the young, powerfully built black man appear, looking no different than the average shirtless young ghetto thug as he walked to the car, except his eyes were sad, not hard or feral. That frightened her even more as he appeared next to her in the passenger seat, the sense of sadness and regret plainly spoken in his eyes.
"It's ok," Jacob said as he stroked her hair, attempting to calm her as he straightened up her clothes, feeling her finally relax. "I know you don't understan', you ain't from round here, but that's ok. You gon' help a young miss who's carrying a burden not meant for her."
Jacob took the pouch from his pocket and removed the piece of wood. The hard glare of the streetlight revealed a rough heart scratched onto one side. He placed it next to her cheek; she was powerless to resist him turning her face toward his. Between them a speck of sunlight sparked into being, glowed as she surrendered to it, then it flashed and she screamed. He reappeared in front of the car beside Polly, watched Amanda slump over in the seat in a twitching dance.
Jacob turned to Polly, removing the pouch from his pocket, taking out Annie's bone before putting away the little piece of wood. Her face screwed up; she was about to start making excuses, but his eyes stopped her.
"Polly, you playing around messed up my judging. That girl and this woman is on you."
He put the little pouch away, held her by the shoulders and waited until she looked him in the eyes. "It ain't over yet," he said, pointing at the car. She looked away, anywhere but at Amanda's twitching form in the car. It wasn't just the woman. It was the out of state license plates...
"We ain't never took this outside befo'." He looked beyond her to the hard night horizon, to the world beyond the park, the town, his eyes growing hard.
Polly, genuinely regretful now, murmured a low "I'm sorry."
Jacob saw her close to tears, embraced her gently, comforting the child she was. "I know, I know... "
****
Rebecca was losing herself within Annie's high-pitched terror of the Stonehill brothers. She felt her own legs pumping, urging the slave girl on as she sprinted from the slave cabins toward Wainwright House; get in, get your things, get away.
Annie's eyes focused on the rear parlor window all the way to the back door. The curtains were wide open, but the room was dark. She skidded to a stop beside the low steps up to the door, right under the window. She fought to control her breathing, listening for the sounds of men or horses as she crouched exposed in the broad back yard of the mansion. She swallowed and rushed up the steps, slowly opened the door and peeked through the crack. All clear. She took another deep breath then slipped inside soundlessly.
She steered carefully around the elegant furniture as she moved to the parlor's front entrance. Just beyond, the hallway of the great house extended straight through it, taking a short left detour at the second of the three landings before opening under the gracefully curving arch of the front stairway, facing the broad double doors at the grand entrance. It was dark, only a few lanterns left glowing along the wall. She couldn't see the front door from here without going down the hall, but that risked waking up the nightboy, who normally dozed in a chair by the entrance. She didn't like him anyway; he preferred being a house nigger. He'd enjoy turning her over to the Stonehills. He'd wake up the house soon enough when they got here. She turned and crept up the rear staircase.
The sewing room was on the left, a few feet away from the back stairs. She peeked just above floor level, thankful it was quiet. She slipped into the room, went to the closet that held old bolts of material from previous balls and dances and retrieved her satchel from behind the pile.
She put the pistol inside and was about to close it up when Rebecca felt herself being...pushed. She got a flash of another woman, around her age, screaming as she and Rebecca tumbled past each other, through whirling darkness, into...the room.
Rebecca found herself in the sewing room, a few feet away from Annie, floating a foot or so off the floor. She couldn't hear Annie's voice any longer, but she still felt the girl's fear, the other woman's panic and confusion as well. She saw Annie's reflection in a mirror, but also the woman who took her place. She was dressed in a modern skirt and blouse and appeared to float within Annie's outline. And her name was...Amanda. Rebecca heard a little girl's voice in her head now, whispering about Amanda and what she did to someone named Marcus Hudson just a few hours ago.
Rebecca was still trying to make sense of it when she lurched forward just as Annie moved to the window. Rebecca careened past Annie, passed through the window, drifted to a stop a dozen feet above the ground. Disoriented, she fought back a wave of nausea and tried to focus on Annie standing at the window. The slave's frightened start, disappearing from view and the sound of horses below told her the Stonehill boys were just arriving. Rebecca spun around, saw young master Julius LeChette was with them, trailing from behind, staying on his horse as the boys dismounted and ran toward the entrance of the mansion.
Rebecca was flung back to her previous position a few feet away from the girl who choked back a gurgled sob. She saw Amanda's reflection in the mirror hanging beside the window as the girl rushed out the door, clutching the satchel. Rebecca was whirled from the room, through the door to see Annie creep down the stairs as she was flung the opposite direction down the hallway then dropped through the floor to hover beside the second stairway.
She heard a noise at her left, saw Annie slowly moving through the rear parlor to the back door then heard pounding at the great front door of the mansion. Annie's exit was as silent as the Stonehill boys were loud, bursting through the doors, slapping the nightboy on his head and ordering him to fetch his master.
Good, Rebecca thought, they didn't see us, you...
She reeled from the nausea and vertigo of flying through walls and furniture, a helpless hovering rag doll, feeling Annie / Amanda's fear rising as she slowly slipped out the back door. Rebecca heard Master Beauregard Wainwright loudly coming down the front staircase, then was cast backward through the house till she found herself floating outside again, this time just above the ground. When her eyes focused, she saw Julius LeChette staring at something in the back yard. Rebecca turned to look, her sick feeling confirmed by Annie, a pale yellow shadow running through the grand back yard used for outdoor parties. It seemed so wide now, as the house came alive with alarm.
Annie headed for the tree line behind the far side of the slave cabins, back behind the small garden where the slaves grew okra and collards, often used by them at night to come and go unseen between the great houses. But she cut straight across the wide swath of the back yard instead of heading for the safety of the smokehouse first. And she was in a yellow dress, she realized half way to the meager collection of cabins, looking down. Her knees almost buckled, she stumbled, then, too afraid to stop and look behind, she finally reached the nearest of the cabins, saw the door crack open and a curious face peek out, saw the house astir and the running girl and slammed it shut. Annie stopped behind the cabin, leaning against the temporary refuge, breathing roughly. Hearing shouts from the house, she bolted through the shacks and down the footpath through the garden for the tree line, then began running south along the footpath, hoping the deeper shadows of the trees helped some. She knew it was bad, but it's too late to be careful...
Two Stonehill boys ran from the mansion's back door to the slave cabins, calling to LeChette, who was just dismounting as they kicked open the first cabin door.
Rebecca, still hovering in the yard beside the grand mansion, watched young master LeChette and the Stonehill brothers force all the sleeping field hands out of their cabins, ordered them all to the dirt in front of the first row of shacks and trained their pistols on them as each cabin was searched for the girl. The fear and choking rage of the slaves washed over Rebecca in hard waves, searing her soul, amplifying her nausea, her complete helplessness. She screamed, thrashing violently from the assault. She tasted the dust swirling up from their short breaths in the humid night air as they lay on their stomachs in their rough breeches and shifts. She felt Annie's racing heart, felt shadows of leaves and small branches whipping past her arms and legs as she ran through the loosely spaced trees. She felt Amanda, inside the terrified girl, screaming.
After checking all the cabins they ran back to their mounts, tearing south down Maison Road. The overseer and the nightboy were sent down the tree line to look for her. Master Beauregard didn't trust the field niggers to look for the high yella, even if they had been rousted awake at gunpoint on account of a house girl...
Rebecca was suddenly flung into the air, stopping with a lurch above the great Wainwright House, then she flew south, over Maison Road, easily catching up to and passing the men riding furiously below her, then after a few minutes she was again hovering above the ground, speeding through trees alongside the pale yellow shadow of Annie, moving quickly along the path through the trees.
She could see up ahead a gap in the tree line, an intersecting crossroads marking the end of Wainwright property along the road, nowhere to hide for twenty yards on either side of the road. And the horses were approaching. Annie took a deep breath and fixed her eyes on the nearest tree across the road, then ran head down across the exposed ground.
Halfway across the road, LeChette rounded the intersection to her left. Rebecca saw him raise a pistol and fire. Annie yelped and fell to the ground with a muffled thud. Rebecca felt a reflection of searing pain ripple from the back of her left leg and shrieked. Annie just moaned, her energy sapped, spirit deflated as she lay there, a foot away from the tree line, her leg numb and prickly.
She'd only made it a mile south of Wainwright House.
The four men took Annie roughly, threw her over the back of Cyrus Stonehill's horse and rode hard back to LeChette House. Once there Cyrus and his brothers Abner and Nathan followed Julius to a quiet spot in the back fields of the LeChette plantation, where Julius and his older brother Lucien often took young slave girls to "get a taste" or "take a ride."
They stripped off the yellow dress, tore off her underwear, threw her onto the tattered clothing, then each man in turn roughly raped her. Between each violation they cursed and kicked her leg where she was shot. After they all finished violating her, they pulled out their pistols. Cyrus shot her in the already wounded leg. Abner shot her other leg, Nathan Stonehill put a bullet through the hand that plunged the knitting needle into Franklin's neck. Julius LeChette steadied his hand as sighted down the barrel, watching her bleeding, swollen face. He called her name, waited until her eyes focused through the pain. He expected her to look terrified, but she just stared back, resigned and trembling.
Rebecca, eyes closed tight, recoiled in revulsion throughout the assault, burning pain in both legs and her hand, then Annie and Amanda's torment abruptly ended as LeChette fired. Rebecca kept her eyes closed through the continued pummeling of the girl's honey brown body, the connection now just a distant echo, but each sound the men made with their boots struck her with dull force.
She heard them stop, the soft muffled shuffling of footsteps trailing away. She didn't want to look, but something told her she wouldn't get out of this nightmare until she did. She slowly opened her eyes, still shaking from the fading waves of agony now no more than ripples, looked down to the broken body and tried to look away, but she couldn't. Whatever held her above the grisly scene forced her gaze, kept her eyes open as she began to cry bitterly.
Annie's honey tones were barely recognizable, bruises and bloody shoeprints covered her body, her torso misshapen from broken ribs, the slave girl's head smoking from the point-blank bullet hole. Rebecca saw Amanda's shattered face reflected within and retched, dry heaved through wracking sobs. She regained control of her eyelids and clamped them shut, her whole body clamped tight.
She heard quick footsteps approach a few minutes later, breaking the still silence of the field, the low noise of crickets near a stand of catalpa trees. She didn't want to see anymore, the two faces were burning into her brain, tormenting her. She heard a choked-back gasp, a deep voice gripped in shock and sorrow. She heard Annie's body being held tightly, lovingly.
Rebecca heard nothing but breathing and low moans for another long minute. Let me go, she whimpered, what else there...
Her eyelids popped open, forcing her to watch an older black man struggle to wrap the tattered clothing around the girl's body. He grimaced, fighting back tears as he wiped Annie's face with a scrap of yellow. The cloth stroked down her cheek and Rebecca saw her own face, shattered, staring back at her. She couldn't stop screaming.
****
At dawn the next morning, Ellis Weston, the Wainwright Park groundskeeper, discovered the brown rental car covered in light dew as he came in early to open up the Slave Museum, saw inside a strange woman, face up in the blood soaked front seat, her frozen mask of agony punctuated by a bullet hole in her forehead. The old man cursed and ran to the small building, fumbling with his keys to get inside and call the sheriff. He had a kindergarden class coming in a few hours and he didn't want some out of town gang killing spoiling the children's day. He dared not think what else it could be.
A few minutes later, Augustus Wainwright's body was found by Jesse, a deputy dispatched back to the house by County Sheriff Burt Eggleston on orders from Agnes Wainwright. "Just go collect him," she said. He found Rebecca cowered in a corner of the disheveled parlor, her screams reduced to hoarse whimpers, her body covered in light bruises. She had a fresh round bruise on her forehead the deputy thought would otherwise be a bullet hole, and she was unresponsive to his questions. Just like '83, he thought, remembering the sheriff's tales of the trouble that year, before he was even born. It was the first time he ever heard of Jacob and Polly, "the ghost twins." But there it was, one of the family firstborn sons dead the morning after his twentieth birthday, and a woman, insane and incoherent found near him. Ol' Burt wasn't lying after all, Jesse thought.
He called in to the station, asked for the county hospital ambulance, and stood outside the bedroom. He couldn't watch the poor girl's face any longer, and that bruise gave him a weird feeling. That feeling was confirmed when deputy Danny called in from Wainwright Park, reporting a female gunshot victim with a bullet wound in the forehead and lots of bruises, except he couldn't tell where the bullet went to. He'd lifted her head, saw the exit wound, but there was no hole in the car seat, no powder evidence from a point-blank discharge on her face or her neatly arranged clothing. Danny said it looked like she was scared to death, then shot, but no bullet.
Jesse always believed the expression "hair on the back of my neck stood up" was just a saying. He knew better now.
Part II – Magnolias in Bloom (April 2006)
Chapter 4
"..So, ladies and gentlemen, we come to the truth. The reputed 'Ghost of Tucker Canyon,' the terror that claimed eight lives over the course of twenty years, has been revealed as the cruel game of Cletus Tucker III, grandson of the old prospector and the supposed first victim of the ghost. Thanks to the assistance of this week's honorary Field Agent, Henrietta Cantwell of Birchwood, Texas, we proved that Cletus not only faked his death, but carried out a gruesome series of revenge murders linked to his family's past."
A tall, distinguished man in a natty suit held up a file, talking as he walked over to a table with a small gray file cabinet sitting on it, named "Myth." Once again, you, the aware public, have aided us in getting to the supernatural truth. Once again, we take hard evidence and employ an open mind, to discover the reality, the proof behind these phenomena. And this time, the file must, alas, rest here," he said, placing the file inside and sliding it shut. Dark, eerie background music swelled as the man turned to the camera. His deep, rolling voice continued...
"As always, ladies and gentlemen, we ask you, the aware public, to bring your hard evidence to us, bring us proof ." He gestured over to another small file cabinet, this one ornate, made of mahogany with gold handles. A brass plate held the word "Truth".
"Send us your evidence that documents the supernatural and the supernormal and if we investigate your case file, you will become an honorary field agent and receive a grant of 10,000 Euros, courtesy of the Slattery Trust, certified by Lloyd's of London.
The camera backed up as the man walked forward, through the doorway of a vault.
"Next week, we investigate the case of a sweet little girl in Nebraska who claims to move large objects at will with her mind. Until then, this is Roger X. Lowell. The file room is now closed."
Lowell stepped out of the frame as the vault door swung closed with a deep, echoing clang. The closing music of the outro came up. Lowell walked over to the sound table, picked up the new copy of Variety with the front page item, "'File Room' spooky smash hit for Phaedra Channel!"
"And cut!" barked the director, as the crew on the set broke into cheers and applause. Lowell merely nodded and smiled, then he stepped back onto the set as the lights came up, holding the paper proudly.
"Thank you all. And a special thanks to Xavier. This could never have happened without your tireless efforts on behalf of the program." He pointed to Xavier Slattery, standing beside the director's chair, beaming in that subtle way of his, from the eyes more than the slightly upturned lips. "We wouldn't be here without you." This round of applause finally made Xavier's smile split wide open.
Xavier was the real force behind the success of the show, Roger thought. Steering "The File Room" through treacherous waters - the highly suspicious and resistant members of the Campus committee, plus his access to the historical case files, made the show an excellent vehicle to properly introduce the no-longer secret organization to a skeptical and frightened public. It wasn't just entertainment - we provided a public service, considering the way the world discovered the Campus, on live television, he laughed to himself. God bless the "Amherst Incident."
"And now," Roger continued, "I can confirm the rumors sparked from today's most gratifying article. We have indeed signed on for three full seasons with Phaedra, and according to Xavier, the success of our program means, on the Campus, we graduate from "Media Relations" research project to full Media Lab status, and with it, a raise for the production staff."
"Now, we are having a small celebration at the alehouse a few blocks west. Some heads of different labs and a few of our agents are already there, so please stop by if you can before you all disperse on a well-deserved two weeks of 'R and R.' Again, congratulations everyone."
The mood at the alehouse, actually Monroe's Tap on Melrose in West Hollywood, was lively with the buzz of the production staff, friends from Spectral, Mage, and one of the Tech Labs and a few field agents from around the globe, trading congratulations and stories from the past year. The bar was closed down, so the shop talk was lively, currently rambling from the electromagnetic properties of ectoplasm to new tweaks in alchemy-based computer chip design. Lowell was at the bar chatting up a young thing from Spectral3 and Xavier was ensconced in a back booth, focused on his open laptop computer, trying out a new benefit of being a full Lab - security-level clearance. He now had full access to the encrypted data search and surveillance resources in Basic Research, and the secure email system as well. An application suite that shielded the Campus from the world's spy networks, including the CIA's Echelon.
Finally, he thought, I can do this with discretion...
He looked up at the clock across the room. 4:35 P.M., West Hollywood time. 11:35 in London. Not long now, he thought, bending back down to the computer, waiting for the "pending pile."
He looked up again, smiling at his old friend Sylvia Cavendish, current Director of the agency, who came by to personally present him with the good news from the Campus, along with the encryption upgrade. She was positively glowing, chatting with friends a few feet away and brushing a strand of blonde hair away from her glasses. She surprised him earlier as he approached her, moving to a seat at the booths. She brushed her hand across the front of his trousers as he sidled past in the crowded back room. This new, sexual side of Sylvia still surprised him, and left him intensely aroused. This same reserved, highly intelligent, and achingly beautiful woman he'd pined for (and lusted after) since he was sixteen, who was never less than professional among the quiet and orderly library aisles at Oxford, or around the sleek racks of blade servers in Basic Research's data centre, was now reciprocating his long-smoldering attraction, and stoking the fire.
"Dear boy, in one hour, we are leaving on holiday. I've made all the arrangements. I am so very proud of the effort you've put into this project, so I intend to see you take this holiday," she said, moving closer, pressing the back of her hand firmly against his crotch, "even if it requires constant surveillance." She giggled softly as he made it to a seat, painfully erect and blushing furiously.
With Sylvia's support, Xavier's "Media Relations research project" (some senior committee members still refused to utter the cable show's name) was accorded equal status with the in-house prospective research labs - they were given Campus computers, allowed full access to the historical case files, but only general access to active investigations. And the committee watched him like a hawk as he competed for good case files along with the other labs and research projects. She told him as much the first time they made love, after, as she lay atop him, drenched in sweat, reeling from the best sex she'd had in fifteen years. She said some members were waiting for him to stumble, to kill the very idea of his public relations program for a secret organization, convinced they could go back underground. They were outnumbered by his supporters in the various labs and on the committee, for now. The news only increased his determination and healthy paranoia.
Xavier watched the cool blonde, her pert, athletic frame slightly obscured by her lab coat, imagining the holiday Sylvia had in mind. He chuckled and bent back to his task at the computer; cases for next season's shows, and waiting for any bad news in this week's pile of "red" cases...
Solid, definitive cases solved were the bread and butter of the research labs in the Campus, whether it documented the supernatural and the supernormal, exposed frauds and hoaxes, or discovered the truth behind myths and legends. And the competition was fierce for new phenomena, not merely cases that updated long-running "active archive" files, so a strict protocol was established.
Today was Thursday. As midnight became Friday, all the labs received a weekly "pending pile" download of prospective case files from Basic Research in London - the cases they generate, plus those submitted by the labs themselves: three dozen or more neat one page F-2's, or "Factual Summaries," of details, along with copies of any source documents (audio, letters, emails, blog hits, news clippings, etc.) and any similarities to "active archive" cases. The download takes a few minutes, but it stays locked until six after, to give all interested members time to log-in. Once the download is unlocked, most research labs quickly go to the "red" files of cases they submitted themselves, to get the numbers and officially register them as active investigations. Later, the rest of the F-2's from Basic Research and any from the Tech Labs are considered.
Some "red" files are so tantalizing, the details will get leaked before the weekly pile, Then a more established lab will right away protest the claim, forcing a hearing before the full committee for arbitration. The older Labs, with more resources and manpower, usually won those showdowns, no matter how forcefully the prospective lab would argue. Case closed. Good case files brought prestige for your Lab, could speed up the process from research project to full Lab status, and meant more resources next year. And Xavier, to the great surprise of Sylvia and a few other committee members, developed during "lab rat" training a knack for picking good cases other labs overlooked. As a result he'd already lost three "red" cases to other, established labs.
It was a quarter to five. Not long now, Xavier thought.
On the laptop, the fruits of three weeks' worth of F-2s were currently displayed, a world map with yellow, green, and red glowing pins hovering over Zaire, Serbia, Scotland and three spots in the US: Warwick, RI., Alamogordo, NM, and Liberty Plains MS. The yellow pins marked Scotland and New Mexico - F-2's passed on by at least two other labs that Xavier felt were worth further study. The green pins, in Zaire and Warwick, marked two of seven new investigations begun by other Labs last week, and officially off limits, but Xavier's friends from his "lab rats" class were in charge of these cases. If they became show worthy, he'd send Lowell and a news crew down to discreetly inquire, and play up the lab in a live webcast news piece. It worked spectacularly when he last did it this season; Agent Carrie Dubinski from Spectral3 was still enjoying a bit of celebrity after Lowell's field report with her, tracking down a killer through the Paris sewers with the aid of a ghost, and clearing a man three hours away from execution. It made international headlines after the episode aired. That put the cat amongst the pigeons, Xavier chuckled...
The red pins marked any unregistered F-2s from previous weeks - Serbia and Liberty Plains. The Serbia file came from Wolfen5, concerning an unidentified, untagged werewolf. Wolfen Labs two and five had been in arbitration the past week. Both labs were evenly matched, but Xavier hoped it would go to Wolfen5 - his mate Steven Brindley was slated for lead investigator if they won the case. And werewolves would make great tele...
The Liberty Plains file was his, and it was perfect - a rumored slave ghost taking revenge on the descendents of plantation masters for over 100 years, a tightly kept antebellum gothic tale exposed by the death of the latest victim. Even better, a case that managed to elude the thorough agents of the Trust for most of its existence. Only the F-2 wasn't official, wasn't even registered - it came from Roger Lowell's slush pile of "honorary field agent" letters, a supplement to the Campus pending pile. The pair of letters arrived in December, sent in by a fan named Augustus Wainwright - actually, Wainwright's lawyer, Rufus Patterson, after the man's sudden death last November.
Xavier was sending two or three of these interesting letters to Basic Research each week, to generate F-2s, but when Roger showed him these, Xavier knew this case was explosive, but he wouldn't stand a chance of proving anything if he sent it as a red file, because of what he discovered.
The letter from the deceased young man, Augustus Wainwright, mentioned other incidents in 1967 and 1983, in Liberty Plains, where either a Wainwright or a LeChette firstborn son was visited by the ghosts Jacob or Polly. Both young men died, but the news never left town. Xavier did a cursory search through old case files from those years, found nothing, then he expanded the search through the historical database for any clues from other cases in the region. After two weeks he found a Spectral7 report from 1985 that mentioned a case in "Wainwright, Ms" dismissed by Spectral4 in July of 83. Dismissed cases were F-2s that, after initial investigation, proved lacking in evidence or substantiation, not even worthy of "hoax" status. These cases went back to Basic Research stamped "dismissed" and filed with the rest of the rejected F-2s in a binder from that month. He located the reference number for the binder, but those files were removed from the database and only in paper form, in a box somewhere in the basement of Basic's data centre in London, sharing space with stacks of boxes filled with binders of decades of old F-2s.
In January, he cooked up an excuse to visit London and the data centre, visiting friends who lived in the residence building on the grounds, which allowed him to access the facility at 2 A.M. He checked the building maps and located the stacks of dismissed files in a cramped room in the center's basement. After half an hour of searching the disorganized pile of boxes by flashlight and watching the door, he located the binders for summer 1983 in an unmarked box and removed the one marked July, confirming the reference number. He was looking through the binder for the file when a noise behind him made him swing the flashlight around, facing the no-nonsense director of Basic Research at the door.
He stood there in shock, expecting the worst, when Sylvia closed the door, ran to him and turned off the flashlight. He was about to speak when she grabbed him by the waist and pulled him behind the stacks of boxes. She held a finger to his lips as he heard voices passing by the door. He had never been this close to her before, breathing in her bouquet, conscious of every place their bodies touched, and despite the danger of being caught, his body was reacting to the contact. She responded to his growing nervous erection by moving her hand from his lips to a firm grasp of his ass. Shocked, he looked in her eyes and saw the same ignited fire. Without thinking, he dropped the binder, caressed her soft, shapely ass under her lab coat and kissed her, hard.
She returned the passion, but shortly broke the kiss. "Come with me," she said, straightening her skirt and moving to the door. He wanted to stay and look for the box from 1967, but she hissed that that was entirely out of the question. Luckily, the room wasn't in a high-security area of the basement, so she and Xavier were able to escape detection back to her suite on the grounds. That was the first time he made love to Sylvia, and discovered the committee's surveillance of his project. And the first time he ever hated a member of the Campus.
The dismissed case file from the July 8, 1983 binder confirmed his worst suspicions. The case agent's report pronounced a "suicide" for Oscar LeChette in Wainwright, Ms and rejected a vague mention of "ghost twins" as "no evidence to substantiate supposed legend. No connection." The same agent was a new investigator whose first case was in 1966. Lucas Jonesborough, a young agent then, now the director of Spectral4 for almost ten years.
Spectral4 was an old established Research Lab based in Memphis, with one of Jonesborough's most loyal agents living in Gulfport, Ms., who'd already done work on the Ormond and the Mytles Plantations in Louisiana. And he was known to be more sympathetic to the masters than the slaves. Xavier had no friends in Spectral4; he'd be completely shut out from any access to this case if it went to arbitration, which they would demand. Then Lucas would bury it, like '67 and '83. He and Spectral4 had betrayed the very spirit of the Campus. It disgusted Xavier; Lucas Jonesborough was spitting in the face of Alexis Slattery, who began the Campus out of a genuine thirst for knowledge and truth, no matter where it led. He was determined to expose Lucas and Spectral4 by fully investigating the case and documenting everything, but it had to be a covert operation first, outside his project, outside the Campus completely. Xavier himself couldn't go anywhere near the town, or send anyone from the show, or Spectral4 would know. An established lab might occasionally launch a "red file" investigation before it becomes official, but never a prospective or new lab, and definitely not a Slattery, unless there were a bloody good reason and evidence.
This case could well add to the positive press the Trust gained in America during the Gulf Coast disaster, he thought. At first, only a half dozen agents were there in the days leading up to the storm, quietly moving data files, artifacts and equipment from Spectral7's base office in New Orleans to staff houses in the El Capitan district and the Baton Rouge office, but Katrina hit before they finished, first washing away the homes of two field agents in Timberlane, south of New Orleans, then they lost contact with a third, the voodoo houngan who lived in the bottom of the Ninth Ward bowl for over fifty years. They'd been missing ever since, joining the estimated 3,000 people lost to the disaster.
In the days of chaos after, the Trust sent MediVac air and water rescue units to get their people, then they saw the disaster unfold on TV, and got involved in the general rescue efforts, joining those who went around the useless FEMA and managed to get some help into the area, even aiding the Coast Guard who also ignored FEMA and went ahead with rescue operations. In the weeks after the water went down, American field agents from twelve different labs suspended active cases and went to help search the wreckage for survivors, not caring to hide their identities, or their contempt for the government response. The networks and cable news shows did glowing profiles on the three agents lost to Katrina.
There were still agents from different spectral labs in the worst-hit areas of the Gulf Coast, patrolling the devastation at night, contacting the newly passed-on and collecting data, so many souls overwhelmed and suffering from fear, rage, and confusion. With this temporary situation causing a backlog of cases, he had space to try a covert investigation, but not long before the data mining filters in Basic Research could come across a news item or a keyword hit from somebody writing about this ghost online. He was waiting for this batch of "red" files for any clue that Spectral4 was trying to suppress the latest incident. The wait was nerve-wracking.
I need somebody on the ground during the next couple weeks to get an investigation started and hand it off, Xavier thought. A reporter not connected to the show, and there's only one name on that short list. I need Lionel Perry, I really need him now. It's been a couple years since he lost his TV reporter job. Last time I asked it was only a couple months after...
He brought up a window for the Trust's financial search engines that had access to bank accounts across the world. He entered the name "Lionel Perry" into the database, quickly locating his New York bank accounts.
Perry had an account in Manhattan Savings before it failed. His other bank, Gotham Federal, hadn't shown any activity in over a year, since a transfer of over $300,000 to the account of a Henry Smith in the Santa Monica, California branch of Bruin Saving and Loan. Xavier entered that name into the database and tapped into the state's DMV to look for a license. Lionel didn't show up, but Henry, with Lionel's face, did. The license date was three months after the transfer. All right, Xavier thought with a smile, you're Henry Smith...
He pulled up Henry's withdrawals for the past two months. He noted a loose trail of gas station, RV Park and motel charges along Highway Seventy, from Kansas City to Denver, then down to Las Vegas. The same pattern of aimless walkabout Lionel... uh, Henry, had been on since the last time Xavier tried talking to his old friend.
He'd been in Vegas for the past few days, Suite 827 in the Matador on the Old Strip.
Xavier brought up his new, private, encrypted email system and searched for any email traffic by either Lionel or Henry. Nothing. He had three cancelled email addresses from his old job, and there were more than a dozen "Henry Smith's" and "H.Smith's" in the search results. Crap. He couldn't send a mass encrypted message, and he didn't dare send all those Henry's an email on the open internet - Basic Research would be onto him in hours when, not if, they plucked a message with that many keyword hits out of the data stream.
Xavier shrank the private email screen and checked the time - seven minutes. Scrambling, he started looking for courier services in Las Vegas. This time I have to convince him to be a reporter just this once more, look into this as a favor, he thought, then I can deal with Spectral4 and the hidebound Campus. I should ask Sylvia...
He looked up and saw Sylvia, pale blue eyes twinkling as she approached his booth, bending close to him. He quickly filled her in.
"Xavier, in light of the information you discovered, I approve of your covert investigation, and I wouldn't worry about the Campus at the moment," Sylvia said. "I will also support your enlisting a freelancer to do the initial investigation, but you must monitor the situation, and be prepared to take over when your friend has enough evidence to present in arbitration. The full committee needn't be informed, as long as you and your friend don't misstep, dear boy."
Xavier was amazed at how the older woman shifted from 'a freelancer' to 'your friend,' as if she'd read his mind as he considered Lionel (damn... Henry...). But I need to guarantee he'll do this...
"Working on it as we speak, dear lady," Xavier said as he located an LA - Las Vegas courier service.
She smiled, glancing at the clock near the bar. 4:55 P.M. "Xavier, dear, I'm sorry, but you'll only have thirty more minutes, then we must be off. I'll leave you to it." She glided over to three dateless Tech-heads, who stammered and gulped as she approached.
Half an hour; that should be enough time.
Xavier looked about the bar, spotting one of the interns who didn't look drunk, waved her over. "Jean. Excuse me, could you be a dear and bring me the notebook computer number six from the cage in Roger's office. Don't bother signing it out, I'll handle that myself. Thank you ever so much," he said, giving her his keys.
He assembled a folder with files covering the Wainwright information, and the declassified Campus history and regulations handbook, then downloaded them into a memory stick. As the timer on his laptop chimed the hour, the weekly download began. Xavier reopened his encrypted email and wrote a hiring letter to the courier service, with instructions to execute in Las Vegas. Jean returned as he sent off a generous advance via electronic payment.
He closed the encrypted email and returned to Henry's bank to do a little business, then he brought up the Basic Research screen, watching the pending pile download as it completed. He saved it, then took out the other, Campus-issued laptop, checked for a small pen drive in a rear USB slot, turned the computer on and installed the encryption upgrade and the files from the memory stick. He wrote a short letter that went into an outer compartment, then a note on a Post-it, stuck that onto the bag and took it up to Jonas the bartender to hold for pickup.
At six minutes the download unlocked. This week it was forty-two total, seventeen of them "red" files. He scanned through them all, made note of two unassigned F-2's from Basic Research, and sighed in relief, seeing no bogus entries for his case from Spectral4.
He closed up and packed away his laptop and regarded Cavendish with a wicked grin. "All right, Sylvia. One quick stop at the studio, then, time for holiday."
Chapter 5
The casino inside the Ogden Hotel buzzed with the noise of money; coins disappearing into chirping electronic slot machines, chips clattering onto felt tables, the emotionally charged tribal sounds of joy and despair erupting over the general murmurs of the players. Just another day in "Vegas, baby!"
A bubbly redhead named Cindy was sitting at the bar near the blackjack tables, sipping a coke, watching the action with half an eye on the TV above the cash register.
The commercial for a Phaedra show was on - a guy crashes through the doors of an historic old house while a morning TV show was on location live, wrestling with a ghostly figure dressed like a Pilgrim. It gets hit with a blast of green light, turns into a skeleton wearing rotten clothes, and the guy lets the corpse go and, standing there in shock, blurts out a bleeped "This shit is real!" as a Campus field agent comes through the door, holding a weird weapon. The scene freezes when the agent notices the camera. The commercial ends with the voiceover, "The File Room. This 'bleep' is real." The show creeped her out, but it was a guilty pleasure.
Cindy was watching the tables for anybody on a lucky streak who wasn't attached. She noticed one prospect trying to be anonymous, a black man wearing a fishing hat and shades, approaching the bar with a basket of chips. He got an orange juice, then went to the nearest table and in two hands his chips had all changed color. He didn't make a sound, just smiled and nodded as he got up and wandered over to another table. Her interest piqued, she casually followed, ending up a couple feet behind him with a clear view.
His first card was an ace of diamonds, the dealer had the king. "Again," he said, and a seven of clubs landed on the ace. The dealer drew a nine of spades. "Again," the man said quietly then sipped his juice. Cindy smiled as the two of clubs hit the table. The dealer drew a five of hearts. "And twenty wins it," he said, and the guy's pile of chips almost doubled. He let them ride and did it again, hit a perfect blackjack, while all the other hands busted out. His pile was exchanged for a smaller bundle of new chips, in a third color. He tossed one of the $500's to the dealer and was getting up again. Cindy gave him a bright smile as he walked past her and back to the bar. She sidled up to him as he finished off the OJ.
"Damn, you're good," she said, touching his arm and admiring the basket. He paused, then turned slightly, nodded and smiled at the girl. For a moment, he looked familiar, but she couldn't remember from where, so she let it go. Inside he groaned. Another minute and I'd be out of here, he thought, now this party girl, as usual, swoops in at the worst possible time. The curse on his fresh winnings was so strong it might as well be radioactive, and she was cute - tightly wrapped and loosely tied and looking for a good time. And he wanted to; he hadn't been laid in a couple months. But she looked too good to accidentally end up in a hospital or the morgue, like the others.
"Hi, I'm Cindy. What's your name, baby?" she said, full of promise and innuendo. "Uh, Henry," he said as he paused, and took a small wad of cash from his pocket. It had a scrap of paper with 'Saturday' written on it, clipped to the outer bill. This cash was almost clean; if she spent it before tomorrow, well, the worst to happen would be something spilled on her dress or breaking a heel on her shoe. He pulled a Ben Franklin out and pressed it into her palm.
"Sorry Cindy. I really wouldn't be any fun tonight, but this is for being nice. Maybe I'll see you later." He picked up his basket and headed for the cashiers window. Cindy's sweet look of surprise at the money lasted until he turned around, then, with a hard smile, she ordered a fresh coke and turned back to the tables looking for fresh meat.
Henry walked outside to the early evening lights of downtown Las Vegas, down Fremont Street to an old Ford Econoline van, white, with a blue driver-side door. In the van he opened the glove compartment, took out a pen, a paperclip and a small calendar and slips of paper on another clip. He took out the one with "Monday" written on it, clipped his $25,000 to it, wrote the date ten days in the future and "6:37 P.M.," crossing out the last entry, wrapped a rubber band around the wad and put it in the glove box.
That'll be a good Monday, he thought. Maybe I'll bump into Cindy if I'm still in town...
He drove east on Lake Mead Road out to Frenchman Mountain, what the locals called Sunrise Mountain. The sky above was a cloak of purple, the stars just visible behind the last shadows of sunset. He parked the van and walked up the trail toward the "Great Uncomformity," the geological attraction on the mountain. He stopped at a bend in the trail, stared up at the expanse, wishing for a meteor strike. The last time he tried celebrating with a hot, willing and eager female attracted by fresh winnings from "that damned money," she was hit by a bus and he ended up in the Atlantic City jail, bringing him another round of bad press in New York.
At least it happened pre-Henry, he thought, before he learned. He had to wait ten days, then he could give this damn money away, burn it, do whatever he wanted. But fresh money was a magnet for bad luck, the stench of the curse was too strong.
After ten minutes Henry, seeing no one else on the trail, pulled out a joint and fired up as he continued staring at the turning sky.
He hadn't worked in two years. Back then he was Lionel Perry, hot shot reporter for "Action 7 News" New York, who cut corners and bent rules to get face time. Then he cut one too many corners covering a gang killing in Alphabet City and endangered a witness, Manuel Trujillo. The family's home was peppered in a drive by that killed their youngest child. After that, he became the latest example of disgraced TV journalism, and persona non grata in town.
His $80,000 in severance pay from the TV station, normally kept confidential, was gleefully leaked to the tabloids - "Trujillo Blood Money," the Daily News and Post both screamed. Fox then came and turned him into a national disgrace; so much for starting over in another market. He tried donating the money to little Ahora Trujillo's memorial fund, and got a scar behind his left ear and a family curse from the girl's mother for it. And you can't save blood money, you have to spend it.
He fled to Atlantic City, hiding in the Trump casino, trying not to feel anything as he set about feeding dollar slot machines and blowing hundreds at a time at blackjack and the roulette wheel, giving away his winnings, until he got down to the last $500, his burden beginning to lift. He carelessly fed a dollar coin into a machine near the entrance, automatically pulled the lever and paused to count a handful of coins. Bells and sirens went off above him. He turned around, stunned to see the machine was a "Derby Day Jackpot" with a half million dollar payout and more unwanted publicity. He tried to fade into the crowd, but the staff pulled him back for the publicity photo, then they recognized him. The Trump, well acquainted with people who'd rather not make the news with good fortune, simply cancelled the publicity, gave him his money, hustled his ass out the back and told him never return. The other hotel casinos in town quickly got word, and his picture, and also barred him to avoid the tabloids that would demonize anybody seen helping this guy "live it up." Then the incident with the girl hit the media. Maybe the money was cursed...
After that he deposited the "damned money" in a separate bank, sold off his things, his Chelsea condo at a vastly below market rate, packed the rest away and traded in his classic Mustang for a Ford Econoline. He was left with $320,000 of his own money in Manhattan Savings. Let the other cash rot, don't even touch it, he thought, I can make it. A week later, the bank's manager was indicted for money laundering and embezzling, and the feds impounded the bank, freezing all accounts. Still he refused to touch the cursed money. He had a few thousand on him, so he drifted down the eastern seaboard, doing odd jobs for clean money to make it stretch, hoping to wear out the curse. Things were fine for a few months, so he took a chance in Maryland and stopped in at Pimlico, bet on a twenty-to-one shot for fun. And the horse won. He felt sick. All of his money was tainted again. He slid into depression and anger at fate and the cursed pile of cash, spending the rest of that year driving to racetracks up and down the coast, making big bets on racks of horses and tearing up the winning tickets, trying to burn the damned jackpot away out of spite. He was down to two thousand when he carelessly bought ten dollars in lottery tickets at a gas station in Maryland ten minutes before the drawing, and won seventeen million dollars. The store's security cameras had him clearly identified, which just brought more bad press. He knew then in his bones he was stuck with this curse. He took the lump sum and stopped pissing it away, which now came to over eight million.
He gave up. He made his peace with the curse, discovered its "ten-day rule" through hard experience. He left the pile in the bank and only gambled when he needed to build up pocket cash, no contacting family or the few friends he had left. He drifted out to California, staying in Slab City long enough to become Henry Smith.
With his new ID, he fell into the vagabond nomad life of gas, grass and ass. Spring in Key West and Ft. Lauderdale, summer in New Orleans, went up to Memphis fleeing from Katrina, then back to Key West to ride out the mild winter and mark the new year 2006.
In the last month he'd passed through St Louis and KC to Denver, then rode southwest until he arrived outside Las Vegas two days ago. He was down to his last $200 of clean cash with a tainted thousand from an instant scratchier he bought in KC, and an ATM card from his west coast bank. He needed a room, a shower, and a cleaned out van. The long scar behind his left ear itched from the prickly desert heat. He ran his fingernails down the raised line of flesh, lightly scratching.
At a gas station outside town he used his bank card to fill the tank, then picked up a hotel guide and booked a suite at the Matador Hotel downtown. The electronic currency from the card was safe, as long as no cash from it touched his hand. Still, he only used it sparingly out of a healthy sense of paranoia.
Henry watched the lights of the city to the west, pulled evenly on the joint, chewing on his promise to stay just long enough to build up a safe cash reserve then leave for the coast, no visiting the Strip, and nothing stupid. Las Vegas was still safe as a rest stop - the last place anyone who bothered would look for him.
Chapter 6
Henry stood silently on the steep slope of the gravel trail that stretched up Frenchman Mountain, watching the stars as he toked on the joint. Now down to a roach, he let it go out and swallowed it, turned to head back and was startled to see a woman standing ten feet down the trail, wearing a denim shirt, shorts, and hiking boots. She was cute, with long black hair like flowing ink in the growing darkness. She waved and giggled as he approached.
"Hey," she said, "I saw you smoking up there. Got any more weed? I got a pipe..." She reached into her fanny pack and took out a little glass bubbler.
"Uh, yeah, I have a little in my van. Are you parked here, too?"
"No," she said, smiling at him. "I hitched. Going back into town?"
"Downtown, sure," he said. "I'm Henry."
"I'm Meredith, but friends call me Sunny," she said, smiling as bright as the sun as they walked down the trail to his van. She was a few inches shorter than him, with an athletic build and nicely tanned legs. Henry smiled, thankful they didn't meet at the casino. This could be interesting, he thought.
There were no other cars parked near the van, so once inside, he decided to stay there and smoke. Henry reached under his seat for a shoe box with assorted items in it, took out a baggie with a small amount of marijuana in it. "Here, you can have that."
"Wow, thanks," she said. Sunny took off her fanny pack, got the pipe and packed the bowl. Henry passed her his lighter, admiring her breasts that filled out her shirt. They looked more than a handful, framed by her arms as she took a deep draw and held it in, her eyes wide open. She couldn't hold it long and started coughing. She gave the pipe and lighter to Henry after her eyes focused. "Boy, this is good shit." He merely nodded, drawing from the pipe.
They smoked another bowl before Sunny put her pipe and the weed away, then sprang across the seat and hugged him, pressing her delightful breasts in his face. "Thank you Henry. I love you already!" Henry floated from the buzz as he absorbed the woman's tangy scent. His hands found her waist, slid down to her soft ass, squeezing her cheeks as she leaned away from him, unbuttoning her shirt.
"Stop. Let's get comfortable," he said, pointing at his bed behind the seat. She giggled and climbed over the bench seat onto the bedding. Sunny moved to the end of the bed and resumed removing her shirt, giving him a show as he joined her. He took off his shoes and t-shirt and leaned against the seatback, watched her swoop her jet black hair forward, covering her face and chest. Then her white cotton bra fell behind her curtain to the mattress. She sighed and straightened up, arms folded under her ripe, round breasts, nipples parting the dark curtain, the tresses flowing around the soft globes.
His erection almost painful from the two-month drought he was in, he crawled to her as she was undoing her belt buckle. "Let me," he said, kneeling before her, kissing her lightly on the neck and under as he undid the button and unzipped the shorts, letting them slip to her knees. She moved to take them off but he stopped her. "Do you like foreplay?" he asked, seriously, she realized. She shivered, smiling as she remained on her knees.
He began slowly, brushing her lips with his, lightly kissing her as his hands floated above her skin, barely touching her as they glided down her back, lightly grazing her panty-covered ass, back up her torso, barely brushing the sides of her round breasts. Sunny felt the almost-caress intently, wrapped her arms around his neck and purred as their kiss grew hot and demanding. His hands settled on her supple flesh as she reached down to undo his pants, pushed them and his briefs to his knees. He slid her panties down and they pressed hard against each other, writhed and moaned as their tongues danced. They separated and, staring into each others eyes, removed their remaining clothes. They came back to the center of the bedding and resumed.
Henry reached between her thighs, slid two fingers lightly back and forth over her fur-covered outer lips as their mouths found each other again. She grasped his hard penis, squeezed and stroked him as her breathing increased. He brought the moist fingers up to her left breast, painting the wetness over Sunny's hard nipple as he pinched it, feeling her shudder. She positioned him between her moist thighs and held him tight, sliding her humid pussy back and forth over his cock. They clutched each other tightly, falling to the bedding. They stayed that way for long minutes, locked in fevered grinding passion, Henry's senses reeling from the strong impression this woman was having on him. She felt like a lost love rediscovered, rather than some crazy stoner chick who just wanted to party. It felt like heaven just to hold her, feel her squeezing him back, soak in the scent of her hair, her taste, her heady perfume filling the inside of the van.
Suddenly, they both stopped, pulled back a few inches. Henry and Sunny both stared deep into each other - to the bottom of her soul; to the depths of his. And still he felt it - the electricity just from being near her.
She sighed, laying back on the mattress, legs spread, eyes closed, circling her clit with her finger. Henry moved to her, kissing her inner thighs, capturing her finger in his mouth then copied her movements with his tongue, his warm breath further igniting her senses. Her clit stood at attention as he circled it, a half-inch nipple surrounded by the soft black hairs. He clamped his mouth hard onto her, dueling with the appendage as he sunk two fingers into her. Her sighs became cries as she started fucking back onto his hand. He broke the suction on her clit with a pop, took his other hand and started squeezing and rolling it, adding a third finger plunging into her. Sunny grabbed his arms, pounding herself onto his hand until she gasped and froze, every muscle straining. She bit down on a scream as the orgasm rippled through her.
Once she let go of him, he slid his fingers from her soaked pussy, flicked her clit and straightened up, lubricating his dick with her juices. She smiled and sprang on him, pushing Henry to his back as she captured his scented erection in her mouth, swinging herself around until her furry pussy was above him, the neatly trimmed black down framing her swollen inner lips. Henry breathed in her essence as he ministered to her desire and she painted his balls and the length of his cock with her tongue, up and around the head as he drove her over the edge.
He sucked her swollen lips hard, making her shiver. Sunny whimpered as she attacked the glistening head of his cock. He slid up to her puckered anus, licked gently around it as Sunny groaned around his cock, plunged her mouth down, swallowed as much of it as she could. His hips trembled; hers shook as his tongue probed her and licked the puckered rim. She felt the wave about to crest as he shifted down to her soaked folds, taking the clit back into his mouth. He stiffened, signaling to Sunny he was about to come. She reared up and grabbed his dick, started licking the head as the orgasm rippled through her. He groaned and she captured the head. His cock exploded, shooting four strong spurts into her mouth as he drank down her juices.
They kept going, Henry feeling more alive than he had a right to for years. He had given up the idea of any woman being interested in him, just him. He'd grown content with the occasional dopers, hippie chicks and pickups, then this woman comes along.
They ended up just making out for half an hour until they were both drained and giddy, as if intercourse would be too intense.
"So this is foreplay?" she said.
"Damn," he said, chuckling. "What was that?"
"I know…I've never felt anything like that before." They stayed that way for another few minutes, buzzed from each other more than the dope.
"Where are you staying? I want to see you again," he said.
"I'm in town for the Athletic Trainers convention until Monday. I'm staying at Circus Circus on the Strip. Do you live here?"
"No, I'm on my way to the coast. Please tell me you live out here?"
"Santa Cruz, south of San Francisco," she said, smiling.
They giggled like kids as they dressed, pausing to touch and caress each other, then they piled back into the front seat.
They drove west into downtown Vegas, then south to Circus Circus on the Strip. Henry walked her all the way to her room, touching her in the lobby, making out in the elevator, burning her smile into his memory. They parted with him promising to call when he got back to his room.
Back in the van, Henry was still tingling from the connection he had with Sunny. She had hurriedly scribbled down her Santa Cruz address and phone number on a notepad and left it for him on the dashboard. This woman was amazing. And they didn't meet because of the money; she wasn't touched at all by this stupid curse.
He was smiling all the way back to his room at the Ogden. He replayed the melody of her laughter as he entered, walking straight through the darkened suite to the bathroom. He came out a few minutes later, into the now lighted room. That broke into his euphoria; the man sitting on the sofa stopped it cold.
He was a big man, wearing a hotel staff jacket. A briefcase sat next to him. Henry was frozen, the experience of Sunny pushed aside by the curse. But it couldn't, he thought. He wracked his brain, wondering what he could have done this time to screw things up. The man, seeing the distress on his face, stood up and smiled.
"Henry Smith? Mr. Smith?"
Henry tensed up; that's how it comes. That sinking feeling as you reach the top of the roller coaster and plunge down into whatever ride awaited him this time. "Yes?"
"Mr. Smith. I'm not with the hotel. My name is Adam. I'm just a messenger." He reached his huge paw into his shirt pocket, took out and presented a small card:
"Mercury Executive Couriers. Speed and Discretion."
Henry glanced at the briefcase on the sofa. It was actually a computer bag. Adam unzipped an outer pocket, took out an envelope and a pda phone. "My client, Mr. Xavier Slattery, wished to contact you privately on a matter of urgency."
Henry didn't relax on hearing his old friend's name. This is about Xavier's damn cable show? I told him the last time I wasn't a reporter anymore, especially not a tabloid TV hack like Roger Lowell, he thought. He had enough bad mojo already; the last thing he wanted was to wade any deeper into that spooky world. And Xavier's family was neck-deep in it. Hell, they started that damn "supernatural CIA" agency.
He took the envelope from Adam. It had "Read me first" written on it. He removed the letter and opened it up, watching as Adam dialed a number on the phone. It was Xavier's handwriting, today's date:
April 17, 2006
Hello Lionel,
Terribly sorry to have to intrude upon your self-imposed exile, but I require your immediate, yet minor, assistance on a most important matter, and I must, regretfully, insist upon your cooperation.
This is a simple fact-checking mission in Mississippi. No reporting or public exposure will be required. After, you can return to Las Vegas and continue to be "Henry"(and I can certainly aid in making your fellow more legitimate, if you wish), or you could join me on holiday and we could have a proper chat about things.
The computer and mobile device are for your use during this minor task. The mobile is encrypted for privacy; the computer, however, has a GPS chip that must be disabled with the "grenade" - a pen drive with a little programme that blocks the signal to the Campus satellite. The other half of the device, a base unit, tells the satellite that the computer is off, and still in Los Angeles. Never operate the computer longer than three minutes without the grenade in the rear USB slot, or things will become rather sticky for all of us. I'll be in no position then to protect you.
I regret that it has come to this, but you wouldn't return my calls and you owe me, Lionel, whether or not you appreciate this opportunity. The courier should have dialed my number by now. Take the phone.
Xavier.
His brow furrowed in anguish. I'm being drafted, Henry thought. He looked up at Adam, who held out the phone. "It's Mr. Slattery," he said. Henry reluctantly took it as Adam turned and headed toward the bathroom, putting in earplugs. Here we go, Henry thought as he put the phone to his ear. "Hello?"
There was a low background rumble coming from the phone. "Helloo Henry. Having fun in Las Vegas?"
"Hell, you tell me. You been friggin spying on me. Where are you?"
"I'm enroute to one of the smaller of the Hawaiian Islands. I'm on holiday, which is why I desperately need you to do this small task for me."
"What? You've got a whole supernatural spy operation behind you; why do you need me," Henry asked, feeling even more boxed in, now.
"Well, 'what' this involves is a mere bit of fact-checking on a potential case file. A bit of 'Who, What, Where,' dear boy. All of the details are contained in the 'Wainwright' file in the computer. As to 'why,' obviously because you're not with the organization. The locations of all active Campus personnel are monitored. In this case I need an outside man who can discreetly confirm this information and relay it to me, that's all."
"Like hell, that's all!" Henry whined. "Look, you know how I feel about your show..."
"Mr. Smith! Perhaps we haven't impressed upon you the importance of this task." The flowing, but firm woman's voice took both Henry and Xavier by surprise. "I'm Sylvia Cavendish, the director of Basic Research. I run the Campus. This matter has the potential to disrupt our entire organization, but despite my great reluctance, Mr. Slattery has convinced me that you are the only person who can, and will, perform this minor task in the time required. I am prepared to assist you in any way we can to help rehabilitate your life, such as it is, but if you refuse this opportunity, I am equally prepared to make your next two years a worse hell than the last two. You think you've been cursed? You have no idea…"
"Sylvia, please," Xavier said. "Henry, look - you are not investigating. Just confirm the data in the computer file, and for God's sake don't mention the Campus or my television programme to anyone there. Just do this, and I'm sure Sylvia will help you in the proper way to remove the curse you are currently under, and thank you very much you stupid git for not coming to me for help."
"All right, all right," Henry said, resigned. "So, what's next?"
"That's the spirit. I took the liberty of purchasing tickets on flights from Las Vegas to Houston, then to Baton Rouge in your name. It leaves from McCarran Int'l Airport in less than three hours, your time. I downloaded the travel details into your mobile, you can consult them later. Inside the case you will also find $5000 in operations funds that I assure you are curse-free. And where is the courier?"
"He's in the bathroom, wearing earplugs," Henry said.
"Very good. Please retrieve him from the loo and give him the phone."
Henry knocked on the bathroom door, opened it, saw Adam examining his teeth. He motioned the big man out and held out the phone as he removed the earplugs. Adam took it, answered "yes, sir," "of course" and "thank you ma'am. It's my pleasure to assist the Campus in any way. And good luck to you, sir," Adam said, as he gave Henry the phone then moved to the door and checked the peep hole, opened it swiftly and surveyed the hallway before he left, silently.
"Henry? Still there?" the phone buzzed. Henry put it back to his ear. "Yeah?"
"The courier will be in his car, waiting near your vehicle. Don't check out of the hotel. I need you to write a note for the front desk, that you are going hiking in the mountains for a few days and to just add it to your bill. Then you are to follow Adam to his company's facility at the airport, where your vehicle will be secure until your return. Adam will then assist in expediting your boarding. You're in first class, which should give you a bit more privacy as you view the file. By the way, the 'grenade' is already plugged into the computer. If I were you, I wouldn't even touch it.
Once at Baton Rogue Metropolitan, there will be a Bayou rental car waiting for you, also in your name. By the time you land, you'll have in your mobile a marked route to follow to the town, Liberty Plaines, Mississippi. That's all for now, Henry. I'll talk to you again once you're in Louisiana." The call ended abruptly, Henry's remaining questions left for him to choke on.
Xavier didn't even wait for a reply, already he's treating me like one of his agents, he thought. Henry slumped over to the sofa next to the computer bag. He found a notepad and pen in the outer pocket and wrote out a quick hiking note for the hotel then he stared at the pad, drifted back to the almost-mythic meeting and foreplay session with Sunny... He forgot to call!
He tried her room at Circus Circus, but no answer. He checked his watch - only twenty-five minutes had passed since he dropped her off. He called her front desk and left a message, then packed up his flight bag and left, feeling that roller-coaster unease rake through him.
Ten minutes later, Henry was following Adam's unmarked sedan south on Paradise Road, taking the other way to McCarran Int'l Airport and avoiding the Strip completely. They drove to Mercury Executive Courier's hangar away from the terminal, where they parked his van inside. Adam escorted Henry through baggage and around the security stop to the gate for his flight. The big man wished Henry luck and departed, fading into the crowd. He got his boarding pass and found a seat in the waiting area near a window, looking out at the stretch of desert to the west.
Henry took out the mobile and dialed Sunny's room again at Circus Circus. Still no answer. She didn't answer ten minutes later, or after an early breakfast of fast food eggs and sausage at 2 A.M., or an hour later as he boarded the plane for Houston.
Chapter 7
After takeoff, Henry closed the window shutter on his seat in first class and checked his boarding passes. In Houston he had a short commuter flight to Baton Rouge, where the rental car was waiting. He tried one last time to call Sunny's room, still no answer. She felt even more like a fading memory as he stared at the number scrawled on the paper.
He took out the computer to get his head back into assignment mode. Assignment mode... He accepted that his career ended over two years ago. He never expected or wanted to chase down leads again, he sure the hell didn't want to end his career in desperation and delusion, but he did owe Xavier for helping him out back in the 90's.
Ok, Henry thought, I'm only going to this town to confirm the facts in Xavier's damn case file. He ran his fingers around the back and sides of the laptop, brushed against the occupied USB port on the right side near the rear. He flinched, then took a better look. The "grenade" was a two inch long pen drive with a little sticker of a grenade and the number "two" printed on it. He gingerly pushed against it, making sure it was firmly seated, then set the computer on the seat tray and turned it on, shaking off a sudden flush of anxiety that made his scar itch. He fought the needling urge to quickly reach up and scratch; he didn't want to draw any attention to it, not in first class.
The desktop displayed a picture of Stonehenge and icons for three file folders: "Mobile User's Guide," "The Wainwright File," and "A Brief Primer on the Campus." He skimmed through the instructions for the mobile then opened the Wainwright folder, saw the documents "Augustus Wainwright letter," "Rufus Patterson letter" and "Note from Xavier."
He opened the Wainwright letter first:
October 30, 2005
To Rufus Patterson, Attorney, Biloxi, Ms.
This is my testament, given two weeks before my possible death on my twentieth birthday.
I am a firstborn Wainwright son. Like the firstborn sons of the LeChette family, we are cursed to be visited by the ghost twins, in particular, Jacob, a Wainwright field nigger who was killed by Justin Wainwright and Lucien LeChette in 1832, before the war of Northern Aggression. No one knows where they buried him. He's usually accompanied by Polly, who appears as a little girl, though she was an old woman who died before Jacob was born on the plantation. There is a third plantation house, built on the old Maison Road that connected them, belonging to the Wexley family. According to the stories, Sara Wexley, the mistress of the house, disappeared the night Jacob was killed, but the boys claimed they never saw her; they were busy playing with the nigger.
Justin got married that year and had five children, but his first child was a girl. The second was a son, Beauregard T Wainwright, born in 1834. In 1861 Beauregard married a girl and left her with a baby boy, Beau II, when he joined the Confederate Army. He survived the great conflict, coming home a decorated major. Justin was a local Homefront commander during the war. On May 1st, 1863 he fell at the Battle of Port Gibson.
After Reconstruction, the families regained their rightful position in the county, and in 1881, Beau II was about to turn twenty. Two weeks before his birthday, Jacob visited Beau's mama in a dream, told her he would be tested on account of his granddaddy Justin 'not fixing things when he was alive.' "Three hours after his birthday passes, I will come to him wherever he is, and he will be tested. Best he be alone - anybody else there will share in his trial."
Nobody took it too serious, but the morning after his birthday, Jacob visited Beau the second and tested him, and the fourteen people still at the birthday party. They were all found the next morning, dead, their faces frozen in horror, their bodies showing cuts, bruises and lash marks under undamaged clothing.
Since then, between the two families there have been 16 firstborn sons tested by Jacob, and/or tormented by Polly. Only three ever survived the tests, and they come away crippled and crazy. The last Wainwright to be tested was Uncle Jeffrey in 1967. Oscar LeChette died in 1983.
I learned most of this from my Auntie Aggie, Agnes Wainwright. She has a box full of old papers and police files in her upstairs vault. She showed them to me yesterday, then locked them away and said she hoped I would make it.
I never got a clear answer as to why this particular nigger keeps coming back to haunt us. Auntie just said "the meadow house," and nothing else, but I've looked at maps of the old plantation, and there ain't no meadow house or anything else larger than a chicken coop that ain't marked down.
Anyway, Rufus, I hired you because I don't want this dirty little family secret to kill me in private. I want you to come to town, and bring a police scanner so you can follow what happens. If I don't survive and they cover this up again, I want you to send this letter to that goddamn supernatural show "The File Room." I want this out in the open, so maybe it can stop.
Augustus Wainwright.
Henry opened up the lawyer's letter next, wondering what "the meadow house" would be.
December 15, 2005
From the office of Rufus Patterson, Biloxi, Ms.
To: Roger X. Lowell, "The File Room"
Subject: Confirmation of Written Testimony of Augustus Wainwright
I was hired by the above-mentioned Mr. Wainwright for the specific purpose of documenting details surrounding his death the morning following his twentieth birthday, November 12th of this year. The Wainwright family has stopped watching me, so I feel safe in sending this package now.
In accordance with my client's wishes, I rented a room at the Liberty Inn, a motel located on the county highway west of town. I brought with me a police scanner radio and a voice-activated tape recorder to have a record of events.
At 10:13 P.M., the night of his birthday, I recorded Agnes Wainwright directing the Liberty Plaines sheriff's department to the family's westside home where Augustus was carrying on a loud party. There was some commentary by one of the deputies about "the ghost twins," but the sheriff told him "and everybody else to shut up about that tonight," and no further relevant radio traffic occurred until 5:37 A.M., when the sheriff told a deputy that "a disturbance was reported" at Augustus Wainwright's address. The deputy found his body in the downstairs parlor. He also found a young lady alive, but out of her mind.
A few minutes later, another deputy reported a woman's body found at Wainwright Park, in a rental car with Louisiana plates. The deputy mentioned that the woman had a bullet hole in her forehead. The first deputy said that his crazy woman had a bruise on her forehead that looked like a bullet hole.
In the local cafe the following day, the deceased (one Amanda Harris from Los Angeles), was said to be found near the Quarters, the Liberty Plaines housing project on the other side of town from Wainwright Park, the apparent victim of a failed carjacking.
The newspaper account of Mr. Wainwright's death mentioned his suffering a "heart attack," with no mention of what caused the heart attack, or any of the family history.
The girl, identified as Rebecca Sandiford, was taken to the Wainwright clinic, a wing of the County Hospital, to tend her physical and mental wounds. She wasn't mentioned in any news accounts.
I have the police scanner recordings safe. When you begin your investigation, your agent should meet me at the Liberty Inn where I will release a copy to you. Your agent should avoid any contact with local law enforcement or members of the Wainwright or LeChette families. Instead, go to Dottie's Cafe in town and talk to Ms. May Ella Jemson, the owner. Mention my name and she will confirm all the information related within our respective letters.
Mr. Wainwright wished this family secret to be exposed in the hope that your organization can put an end to it. I will assist in any other prudent way I can to settle this matter.
Rufus Patterson
Henry snorted. He'd have to steer clear of the local cops and the people who still run the town. Well, nothing I haven't been doing lately, he thought. He considered what cover he'd need for this little mission as he opened up Xavier's note. It was just a bullet list - day one, meet Rufus Patterson, get the tape, take shots of Wainwright Park; day two, meet May Ella Jemson, ascertain/confirm any and all historical information; day three, get the hell out. "Casual undercover duty, dear boy. Childsplay." Childsplay my ass...
Henry moved on to the desktop folder named "A Brief Primer on The Campus," saw a PDF document with the same name:
The Campus is a global network of operations centers, training and detention facilities, and specialty-based research and technical labs, along with the internal security and investigative branch, the Inspectors.
The organization was founded by financier Alexis T. Slattery, who lost his young wife in giving birth to Benjamin Slattery in 1827. After attempts to contact his beloved, he swore to discover hard proof of the afterlife, which spread to include a search for the truth behind all of myth and superstition. In 1832 he formed a "research group" of trusted associates and friends with similar interests to investigate and document the supernatural. Upon his death in 1841, Slattery willed £100,000 of his personal fortune to the informal yet secretive society and investigative agency now known as "The Campus."
In 1850 Benjamin Slattery, after graduating from Oxford, joined the agency as a research assistant, becoming Director in 1878. In the intervening century and a quarter, the various research and technical "Laboratories" within the Campus have documented, to the declassified satisfaction of the Royal Academy of Sciences, 19,238 authentic manifestations of the supernatural. The nature of the phenomena being collected and catalogued required its being withheld from a public unable at the time to handle such knowledge. That all changed with the "Amherst Incident."
Basic Research controls and coordinates the activities of the different labs, runs the training facility for research and field agents and detention facilities around the globe. The data centre is where the world's daily communications, entertainment and media stream is sifted for mission-specific keywords, articles, TV news items, etc., for further investigation. The location of Basic's operations center is classified.
The research labs investigate, catalogue, and contain (when necessary) a variety of manifestations of the supernatural and the supernormal. The number and types of research labs change occasionally. The current breakdown is:
BEMs: (Bug Eyed Monsters) 1
Spectral: (Ghosts) 7
Hybrid: (Mutants) 3
Esper: (Humans with psychic ability) 6
Scarab: (Egyptology and Mummies) 2
Mage: (Sorcery and Witchcraft) 6
Lamia: (Vampires) 4
Wolfen: (Werewolves) 5
Necros: (Zombies) 2
And the newest lab on the Campus:
Media 1 ("The File Room")
Tech labs develop scientific equipment for investigation and detection, stealth, and defense. Tech Central coordinates the different tech labs and manages patents on hardware and methods.
Owl: (Investigative and Diagnostic Equipment) 3
Tiger: (Surveillance and Stealth) 5
Coyote: (Magic Offense and Defense) 7
Lion: (Advanced Weapons and Tactics) 8
The Inspectors, the internal security and investigative branch, has regional offices around the globe. In the US: Boston, Chicago, New Orleans, Denver and San Francisco. Their insignia is a falcon.
There was a short history of the different research labs and why the Vampire labs had such a weird name, but Henry had read enough. He turned off the computer and dozed, dreaming of Sunny.
Henry landed in Houston at 3:30 A.M., Texas time. He had a ninety minute wait to catch the early bird commuter flight to Baton Rouge. He passed the time by checking city sites in Baton Rouge online. Once he landed, this little mission would be on his ass; he needed his own plan...
After the commuter flight landed at Baton Rogue Metropolitan, Xavier's driving directions to Liberty Plaines arrived in the mobile. Henry couldn't make out the details on the small screen, so he put the device back in the computer bag and searched for the car rental desk.
He was told he had a choice of vehicles, so he picked a dark blue cargo van. He put his three bags in the front seat, fed the directions into the dashboard GPS, then left the airport, driving to a downtown bike store off Florida Boulevard. Once it opened he bought a Trek bike that didn't look brand new, got a helmet, lock, and lights, then drove to a resale store and bought a sleeping bag, biker clothes and a few items to add to his 'trick bag' of old undercover disguises. His final stop was an electronics store for a portable police scanner, earphones and a car charger. He felt much better as he stowed the new gear in the van, particularly the scanner. His old one was back in Vegas, and it would be vital gear out here.
It was almost noon. He got back in the van, felt his stomach mildly complain as a yawn escaped him. He needed to sleep, but he needed food more. He stopped at a fast food place on the way to Gus Young Park. Henry parked in a quiet spot and ate inside with the windows cracked open to the muggy overcast day, crawled in the back and set his travel alarm for 6 P.M.
****
Roger X. Lowell breezed in through the rear entrance of Campus Media Studios, the West Hollywood home of "The File Room," still elated from his Friday night and Saturday morning spent with Mareva, the charming young lass from Spectral3. He said goodbye to her over breakfast at LAX and sent her off to Prague with a promise to email her. She was a valuable contact as a field agent, his personal contact, bypassing Xavier; the lad was much too tightly wound about all that Campus intrigue. The show was a great success, the grumpy old bastards on the committee should be grateful for the good press they receive, thought Roger.
He came in to get a Campus laptop with the new declassified upgrade, to study the new features at home. Roger really wanted more information about Spectral3, and Mareva's case history with the lab.
He walked across the darkened set toward his office, to the caged shelves of special Campus-supplied equipment inside, daydreaming about the girl's brunette locks, and the delightful mole at the base of her spine. The computers were stacked neatly on the shelf, all...six?
Roger counted five Campus laptop bags. Puzzled, he looked around and picked up the clipboard with the sign-out sheet: no computer was checked out, a direct violation of policy. Roger cursed - he was on his way home to West LA, now he'd have to check the security video. He'd be here a while.
He found the last person at the cage, 5:03 P.M., Friday afternoon. It was Jean, an intern, taking out number six and a pda phone. She was in a hurry, probably getting back to the party at Monroe's. She had Xavier's keys as she closed the cage and was gone in under a minute. She didn't turn the computer on and set up the base, he thought, so why take unsecured equipment...unless she's a cover...
He went on, slowly scanning the footage after Jean left, saw a jump in the time signature from 5:27 to 5:34. It was a rough cut, but enough to fool a cursory check.
Roger brought a chair near the cage, climbed up to check the top for the item they weren't supposed to have - the "Grenade" GPS masker, obtained by Xavier from a friend in Tiger3 tech lab. Unauthorized and strictly prohibited equipment, if the agency knew about it. The base unit was hidden inside a old box underneath a small stack of magazines. The unit was on, green indicator light blinking.
Xavier, Roger thought.
He turned on his office computer and pulled up the base unit tracker. On the program's map, he saw the faded main icon for laptop number six in Los Angeles, while the yellow and black button indicating the masked unit was located in Baton Rouge, La.
Roger fumed. The Wainwright file, the case he wanted to investigate himself, as a field agent, from start to finish. The case Xavier said they'd talk about next season, and he picks our two week vacation to sneak around behind me...
He called up his cameraman Harry Sims in Encino, found him on the couch watching cable. He had to promise Harry $1000 a day to get him to come down to the studio and prep the equipment for an impromptu on-location webcast.
Roger felt recharged as he hung up the phone. He was going to take this investigation back and make a little news of his own.
He booked Sunday morning flights to Baton Rogue for himself and Harry, checked the map again and saw the yellow and black button slowly moving. Roger zoomed in; it traveled east along Highway 12. Headed to Liberty Plaines, no doubt.
****
Henry Smith had a Thermos full of coffee and a dozen donuts sitting on the passenger seat of the van. The GPS screen on the dashboard showed a green dotted line going east on Highway 12 around the north shore of lake Ponchatrain and down to the 10/59 cutoff, taking 59 up and out of the state.
The coffee started kicking in twenty miles up 59, as the green line on the screen veered west onto a county road. Henry took it, noticing the sun below the horizon behind him.
It was close to nine when he reached the end of the dotted line, the intersection with state Highway 49 where the Liberty Inn lay in wait. He took number nineteen, a room in the back, drove around to the rear parking lot, satisfied the van was shielded well enough from the highway. He left the bike in the van and brought his things in, casually checking the windows of the other rooms during the two trips. None moved, far as he could tell.
Inside, Henry set the bags on the bed, the Thermos and the donut box on the dresser, took out the mobile and turned on one of its Campus features, performing a sweep of the room for bugs. He found it clean.
He finished a partially eaten donut as he dialed Xavier's number displayed on the screen, found him enjoying a beautiful Hawaiian afternoon, about to board a helicopter for his own cabin on a private beach. He kept it short, told Xavier to call Rufus Patterson at the motel and tell him to come to room nineteen. He felt drained, the long day catching up with him, the caffeine and sugar wearing off, but he only needed to be up a little longer tonight. He turned off the overhead room light, turned on the little table lamp on the dresser, sat in the rustic chair and waited, fighting off a yawn between remaining sips. After six minutes there was a light knocking at the door. He peeked through the window, saw a young man in a t-shirt and sweats, carrying a backpack. He opened the door and the young man hurried in. He looked too young to be a lawyer, average height, with a mop of blond hair.
"Patterson?" Henry asked. Rufus nodded his head, then took a brief double take as a shadow of recognition crossed his face. It passed. He took off the backpack and opened the small front pocket, took out a CD in a case and placed it on the dresser.
"Mr. Smith? Xavier said to be brief, so-" as he reached back into the bag, "the raw audio, plus a second edited summary is on the CD." Patterson placed a brochure beside the disc. "Wainwright Park is only a couple miles from here, on Old Maison Road. Polly goes there to play sometimes, but only after sunset. If you're alone and she likes you, she might show herself. If she's a little girl, you're ok. If she's a teenager, don't stop and say 'hi,' leave the park and don't enter after dark."
"The county road takes you east into town, through to the town square," he said, putting his backpack on again. "Ms. Jemson at Dottie's will be expecting you on Monday. Wait until after one o'clock."
He went to the door, checking the view outside first. "One last thing. I think the families found out about Augustus' letter, and along with the death of the Harris woman, they know somebody from your TV show is coming, but they expect a news crew. At any rate, the thing about three days is true. Lots of people come through Liberty Plaines and Wainwright, but anybody from outside hanging around three days in a row gets noticed. This concludes our business, Mr. Smith. I wish you luck." He left quickly and quietly, jogging quickly across the parking lot and out of view. Henry closed and locked the door, feeling more sleepy than ever now. He put the CD and the brochure in the computer bag, undressed and crawled into bed.
Chapter 8
Henry woke up at 11:30, groggy from the stale humid air in the room. Stomach rumbling, he stumbled over to turn on the air conditioner and peeked out the window, saw the rear parking lot, and the county road into town on the left, the blacktop rolling away through the Gulf Plains countryside. He shuffled to the bathroom for his morning toilet, then finished off the last two donuts as he checked his 'trick bag,' deciding on the floppy hat, shades, and a fisherman's vest for the drive up Highway 49 to the next truck stop.
It was ten miles up the road - a gas station, liquor store, burger stand and a cafe that served breakfast anytime. Perfect. He drove into the lot near the cafe, parked and went to the liquor store first for rum and cola. It had been months since his last drink, but he left most of his weed behind in Vegas, and he wanted something to take the edge off this strange place. He felt it on the ride here - a pervasive Old South creepiness that hung in the air. Just being here was cause enough for alcohol.
After stashing the bottles in the van, he entered the cafe, found a seat at the counter and ordered the breakfast platter, took out the brochure for the park and looked it over.
Wainwright Park was dedicated in 1977 on the grounds of the original Wainwright House, one of three grand mansions constructed along Old Maison Road. The plantation house and slave quarters were burned to the ground during the race riots of 1905, which also witnessed the destruction of the original town, Wainwright, MS. The largely black town of Liberty Plaines was built in 1907, east of Old Maison Road. Today, Wainwright itself is a small unincorporated community of white-owned homes and businesses ten miles north of the park. A slave museum and local history center is located in the park. It's claimed that if you visit at night, alone, you can sense the souls of the plantation slaves.
Henry was rounding third base on his breakfast platter when a sheriff's deputy entered, a short, muscular black man who casually surveyed the people in the cafe as he greeted Fran who worked the counter. She said "the usual, Danny?" and he says "Not today darling, just lunch," and laughed loud enough for Gilbert to hear in the kitchen. Fran rolled her eyes at the worn-out joke. Danny walked on, through to the restrooms, coming Henry's way. He fought against a nervous shudder, but he didn't get a second look from the deputy. He caught the big "Wainwright County" shoulder decal from the corner of his eye once the deputy went past.
Henry was sweating under that hat, but he had to admit, the old undercover buzz, the rush of fear, the hunger for the story twitched in his gut, an old, familiar itch he hadn't scratched in a long while. Dammit, the eggs and sausage tasted a little better now. He smelled the coffee and orange juice of the diners beside him, the aromas richer. He could almost taste the rum.
The knot in his full stomach faded. Henry continued eating at a good pace, finishing off the plate as he watched the news on the cafe's TV. The deputy was coming back any minute for a sit-down lunch; time to go. He tucked the Wainwright Park brochure back in a vest pocket and left a $5 tip. He calmly left the cafe and was about to reach the van when he saw the deputy hurrying through the cafe and exiting. Henry turned his back a bit, but Danny cut in the opposite direction, running to his cruiser parked in front of the burger stand. Henry got in the van, resisting the urge to look over, though the screech of tires and the fading wail of a siren was tempting, magnetic in its pull, but he reached under his seat for the police scanner, plugged in the charger and put in his earphone. He clicked it on and went to the frequency Patterson wrote down.
"...be there in ten minutes to assist!"
"Naw, Danny, just go to the east house and sit there. And turn that damn siren off. Jesse, you stay till they finish checking the rest of the hospital. She's still inside."
"OK chief." "Yessir, chief."
Getting back on 49, Henry recalled that Patterson's letter made mention of the girl, Rebecca Sandiford, being secretly treated, or held, at the Wainwright Clinic. If this was a real story assignment, the clinic would be among his first stops, to try to visit the only survivor of the latest incident. No way in this situation was he going to see the house or the girl...
Returning to the now crisp and comfortable motel room, he got a bucket of ice, changed into the biker outfit and double checked the mobile's instructions for taking photos. He slipped it into the rear pocket of the bike jersey, then looked over the park brochure again as he poured a nice big rum and coke for himself.
He retrieved the bike from the van, and noting the prickly sun and stifling heat, decided to wait a few hours to let the worst of the day pass. It was a little after 1 P.M. Henry rolled the bike into the room and turned on the laptop, bringing it and his rum and coke over to the rustic chair beside the bed. Just for curiosity, he searched online for data on the Wainwright clinic, finding only that it was a wing of the county hospital north of Liberty Plaines.
Henry searched on for any detailed accounts of plantation life, putting aside his personal distaste for delving into the slave experience, the long chronicle of misery he could do nothing about. He located slave narratives describing the habits and clothing of adults and children, the typical diet a slave was fed, etc. He found quite a few plantation history websites, and even a few that delved into ghost legends, but they all seemed to be from the perspective of the masters instead of the slaves, and none about this particular haunting. He started drifting, so he turned off the computer, reset the travel clock for 4:30 and finished his drink, stretched across the bed for a nap.
At 6:30 P.M., Henry woke up. He was enjoying a very pleasant dream starring Sunny, when suddenly she stopped moaning and said "Henry, wake up, it's time to wake up!" and she smiled, glowed bright as the sun and he sat up, wide awake. He saw the time and grimaced; he slept through the alarm. He staggered to the head to splash his face, checked the mobile and decided to bring the police scanner too. Henry put it in a side pocket and the earbud in his left ear, took the bike, now cool to the touch, and left the room, riding across the rear lot to the county road, heading east. It wasn't as hot now, Henry could smell the air starting to cool as a sudden breeze whispered through the branches of red maple and sweetgum trees on either side of the road. The sun was still above the horizon line of trees, but not for much longer.
A mile or so east of the 49, Henry came to Old Maison Road, turned left and pedaled past the sign "Wainwright Park, two miles" as he rode up the broad thoroughfare. It seemed out of place today among the fields, though Henry could imagine parades and processions along the road, passing before the grand houses.
He didn't hear any police traffic during the ride up, so he relaxed as he dismounted, turned off the scanner and tucked away the earbud as he walked the last 100 feet to the park. It was two to three acres of manicured lawn on either side of the road. There was a one room schoolhouse, the slave museum, on the left, a gazebo on the right, and a few feet away from it, a swing set. There were a dozen or so people in the park: a family picnic, two girls on the swings, and a group of college-age students emerging from the schoolhouse, walking across to the gazebo.
He parked and locked the bike on the rack in front of the museum, then went through a few stretches as he took out the mobile and the earphones, plugging them into a non-audio jack as he turned on the photo function. He bobbed his head as if listening to a beat, watching the screen and taking shots of the schoolhouse. Henry pivoted around and took a few blind shots in the direction of the students, and the little girl still on the swings, then he put the mobile and earphones back in his jersey pocket and entered the museum.
It was small, probably 100 square feet, with display cases along the sides, portraits, documents and faded pictures were framed and hung above. On the opposite wall was a "wall of fame" of photos and portraits of famous African Americans in history, framed by a US flag at one corner, and the Black Liberation flag in the other.
He checked as discreetly as he could, looking for the security camera he was sure would be in here. No obvious camera in the corners, and not many other places to hide one in the room.
Taking no chances, Henry repeated the earphones bit with the mobile and took a few quick photos of each wall inside before any body else came in, then put it away and left. He unlocked and walked the bike across the broad road to the gazebo, watching the students pile into a minivan and drive off, north to Wainwright. The family was at their car, putting the last of the picnic items inside. He smiled at the little girl still on the swing, not wanting to go. The sun was almost below the tree line.
He took out the mobile for more pictures of the gazebo as he entered, admiring the unique paint job in the softly shaded light - a red, black and green motif instead of the usual white. He took out the brochure, looked at the painting of Wainwright House on the front, tried to imagine how large it would be.
Henry heard the picnic family drive off, going south, turning east on the county road toward Liberty Plaines. With no one else in the park, he left off the earphones as he took more shots from inside the gazebo as the shadows grew longer.
Henry heard giggling behind him, turned around to see one of the little black girls still on the center swing. Puzzled, he took a closer look. She was barefoot, her hair in pigtails, a big smile as she kicked her legs forward to swing harder. Henry checked the view screen and was confused at first; the center swing hung still with no little girl on it, but glancing up, there she was, swinging and giggling. And she was only wearing a man's shirt, a common form of dress for small slave children. "Oh shit," he whispered, slowly turning around, putting away the damn mobile and slowly stepping out of the gazebo. That's why everybody left before the sun went behind the trees, he realized, walking around to the bike.
Henry picked it up and got up on the road, about to mount it when "Hi!" sounded out behind him. Henry turned to see the little girl, in the now still center swing, waving at him. He waved back and called out "Hi! Bye bye!"
"Bye bye" and happy giggles floated back. By then Henry was back on the bike, pedaling south and not looking back. He could still hear the little girl in his head until he passed the sign and turned onto the county road back to his motel room.
****
Jacob sat unseen on the roof of the slave museum, watched the stranger wave to Polly then ride off in a hurry. He appeared in the swing beside her, closed his eyes and saw the black man turn right onto the county road. Jacob glanced at Polly, who was smiling for the first time in weeks. "Well?" he asked.
"Uh huh, it's him. I heard him thinking in the museum. He here to look in on it," she said, starting to swing again. "He can help me with Rebecca!"
"About time," Jacob said. The thought of the innocent girl brought up his anger again, added to his decades-long frustration with these two families. This was becoming wearisome, Jacob thought. Testing the firstborn sons was no longer working; lately they were weak and sickly, and the ones that actually passed his test didn't survive their family long enough to do anything. And with the latest firstborn dispatched, he was expected to just go back to visiting the matrons of the families and let Polly play with the tourists. Business as usual.
And business at the meadow house was picking up again, he could feel it, even if he couldn't see it. He could tell when a visitor to that house came through town, the stink of depravity was strong on them, then it was like they vanished for a time, into a blind spot. When he became aware of them again, they all but shouted out the evil things they did. Somebody told them never visit the park after sunset; wish they would, Jacob thought. But more of them were passing through town. Many of these men were worse than the masters. Things ain't getting better.
Maybe it's time I go outside, he thought.
Polly stopped the swing and hopped out. "I'm gonna see how she doing, then I'll go get a better read on him."
Jacob's attention focused back on Polly. Yeah, the girl...
"Polly, we won't get a third chance to do this, so if he here to help, you be nice to him, even if he is bad."
The little girl pouted, but then her smile sprang back. "Ok, but I don't think he's bad." Polly went unseen and flew off toward the county hospital. Jacob sat in the swing pondering a minute, then decided to visit Jason Wexley. He's got some work to do.
****
Henry skidded to a stop beside the van. He got off the bike, hands shaking on the handlebars. He put the bike back in the van, rushed into his room and stumbled onto the bed. After a couple minutes spent shaking off the encounter, Henry took out the mobile and turned on the laptop. He brought up the photos he'd taken, thirty-two total, and uploaded them to the computer. He pulled up Xavier's email address and attached them to a short note. He didn't mention his near-encounter with a ghost, maybe one of the ghost twins, or how rattled it made him.
Henry put the mobile and scanner on the dresser, changed out of his biker gear for a t-shirt and jeans, the cool air in the room aiding his relaxation. He got the hat and shades again, hopped in the van and drove back up to his breakfast intersection, this time stopping at the burger joint, then the liquor store for more rum.
Back in the motel room he turned on the lamp and the police scanner for background noise. He checked online for more data about slave children dress, confirmed that the girls were usually given a simple shift or a shirt to wear, like the little girl in the park...
The power suddenly went out in his room, even the laptop shut off. Henry sprang from the chair and went to the door. The knob refused to turn. He pulled back the curtain, saw light from the rooms beside his. Light from the parking lot spilled into the room. He heard a familiar giggling, turned to see the little girl standing a few feet behind him in the patch of light. Cute as a button, in long pigtails, wearing a man's tuxedo shirt.
"Hi Henry, I'm Polly."
Henry gasped and stumbled backwards, falling across the bed, almost knocking the laptop to the floor, scrambling to find the chair. Oh shit, oh shit; Henry was terrified. The girl smiled, climbed into his lap, placed both her little hands on his trembling chest and closed her eyes.
In a flash Polly saw his last few days, his mission, then his last few years, saw the hard knot of shame, grief, and remorse in the pit of his memories, and a little girl named Ahora Trujillo at the center.
Her smile faded into a sigh, glad that a decent man had come to look into things, like Jacob said someone would. Unlike some people from outside who visit the park, this man had none of the "meadow house" in his heart. Polly snuggled closer, head on his chest. She felt his heart racing, started patting his chest lightly, repeating "It's ok," but he was gonna pass out soon unless she calmed him down...
"It's ok, Henry, don't be 'fraid. We need your help."
Polly straightened up in his lap and gently closed his eyes. Henry felt her suddenly heavier, softer, felt full lips press against his. His startled gaze took in her full grown form as she drew back: mid twenties, tall, with full breasts topped by thick, dark nipples. She had long kinky hair in loose locks, a full sensuous mouth, eyes filled with compassion. She stood up; he saw the shirt, unbuttoned, trailing down the smooth chocolate skin, stopping at the swell of her hips, a few inches above her lush bush of trimmed hair.
"Henry, I need your help."
She parted the shirt further, exposing her nipples to the fading light. She closed her eyes and began lightly pinching each one between thumb and forefinger. Her low moans and the scent of arousal filling the space between them slowly overcame his fear. His erection growing, he stood up, still uncertain as he placed his hands gently atop hers, stared into her opening eyes, level with his. Her beautiful smile came back as she hugged him, pressing her pubic bone hard against his erection. She melted away from him, sat on the bed and drew him to her by that intoxicating smile. She undid his pants, and the next thing he knew he was on the bed. She was perched above, just beginning to ease herself down upon him. Her skin was cool to the touch, even as she began to sweat, but inside she was a cauldron of terrifying passion.
She snuggled down firmly upon his length and began to grind, breath quickening. Henry reached up to her nipples, pinching both firmly; she purred, started bucking against him, her noises resonating within him. He was swept up in the intense sensations. By instinct, Henry's hands slid to her waist, he began thrusting until she clamped down on his penis, driving him over the edge. He froze, shooting three strong spurts, then continued pounding her. Polly collapsed down on him, showering his face with kisses, her skin sweaty but still cool as she ground against him, tensing up for a thunderous orgasm that drove Henry over the edge once more.
The room was filled with their hard breathing. Henry was reeling from the heightened senses. He felt her clasping him, realized he was still humping in loose rhythm to her undulations. He was reduced to breathy groans, riding the ebbing waves of ecstasy she shared with him. The contact lessened as he slipped out of her, but he was still drifting, completely helpless in her embrace.
Polly again planted slow kisses on his face, his lips, until Henry's eyes focused on her. She grinned at him. He smiled back, completely relaxed and unafraid now.
"Henry, I really do need your help. It's the girl, Rebecca. They gonna kill her. Let me show you," she said. "Close your eyes..."
Henry did so, found himself floating above the entrance of Wainwright County Hospital, a three story T-shaped building, from this view an upside down T along the north county road. 'The west wing was turned into the Wainwright Clinic,' Polly whispered into his ear. He drifted left, past the glass and brick exterior, around and through the west wing clinic entrance, past the nurse's station to the patient rooms. He slid through the floor and down the short hall to a room at the end. Room 0, the padded room. Straight jacketed and asleep, the girl lay curled against the far corner.
"They waitin' for her to come around to see what she remembers. When they find out she saw Annie, they gon' kill her. Just like they did Jeffrey..."
Henry's eyes blinked open, stared up into her clouded face. He knew the look she bore - Rebecca was her fault somehow, and she couldn't fix it before, but maybe now...
Henry realized what she was asking him to do, felt suddenly more naked and helpless than his present state. He slowly slid from under her, torn between his fear of this ghost and these plantation families. They were willing to kill their own blood to keep their secret, they wouldn't think twice about a washed up reporter.
"Henry, I can get her out of the clinic, I just need your help getting her away. Don't nobody know she's even here. Please."
He fixed his clothes, went over to the dresser and poured a big rum and coke, downed half of it before turning around to see her sitting cross legged on the bed, the shirt still undone, her body intoxicating. Just one more day, he groaned to himself.
He took another strong pull from the glass and set it down. It's like riding a bike through rough streets; don't think, just do it. "OK, when do you want to do this?"
Polly jumped off the bed and into his arms, pressing her cool ghostly flesh against him. "Thank you, thank you," she said between kisses, happier than she'd been in weeks.
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